

University of Connecticut OpenCommons@UConn

Agendas and Minutes

Board of Trustees

1-27-2016

2016 January 27 -- Agenda and Attachments

Follow this and additional works at: https://opencommons.uconn.edu/bot_agendas

Recommended Citation





Board of

TRUSTEES

VOL. 159 JANUARY 27, 2016

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES UNIVERSITY OF CONNECTICUT

AGENDA

University of Connecticut Lewis B. Rome Commons Ballroom South Campus Complex Storrs, Connecticut January 27, 2016

BOARD OF TRUSTEES SCHEDULE

9:00 a.m. Financial Affairs Committee Meeting

9:15 a.m. Board of Trustees Meeting

BOARD MEETING AGENDA

Call to order at 9:15 a.m.

- 1. Public Participation
- 2. Chairman's Report
 - (a) Presentation: Overview of the Office of Veterans Affairs Services and Programs

Presenter: Kristopher E. Perry, Director

Office of Veterans Affairs and Military Programs

- (b) Minutes of the meeting of December 16, 2015
- (c) Consent Agenda Items:
 - (1) Contract for Approval (Attachment 1)
 - (2) Revisions to the Policy for the Selection of

Outside Legal Counsel (Attachment 2)

- (3) Exercise of University Ownership Rights (Attachment 3)
- 3. President's Report
- 4. Financial Affairs Committee Report
 - (a) Report on Committee activities
 - (b) Items requiring Board discussion and approval:
 - (1) Recommendation for Approval of Collective Bargaining Agreement with UCPEA

(Attachment 4)

(2) Funding Strategy for Athletic Facilities Improvements

(Separate Cover)

(3) Project Budget (Final) for Residential Life Facilities West Campus Shower Renovations

(Attachment 5)

- 5. Other business
- 6. Executive Session anticipated
- 7. Adjournment

PLEASE NOTE: If you are an individual with a disability and require accommodations, please call the Board of Trustees Office at (860) 486-2333 prior to the meeting.

ATTACHMENT 1

CONTRACTS AND AGREEMENTS FOR APPROVAL January 27, 2016

NON-PROCUREMENT CONTRACT - NEW LIBRARY - SCIENTIFIC JOURNALS Program **Approval** Director No. Contractor Contract No. Amount Term **Fund Source Purpose** Wiley Subscription Services, \$3,064,865 01/01/16-12/31/18 Multiple Sources Martha Bedard, Access to academic journals for all University campuses, including UCH. Package contains over 1,300 core science journals considered essential to support research initiatives. Over Vice Provost for University 200,000 journal articles from this package are downloaded annually by UConn faculty, Libraries students, and staff. This is a library media acquisition sourced under Section 10a-151a of the Connecticut General Statutes and contracted through the NorthEast Research Libraries Consortia (a/k/a NERL/CRL). Payments under this contract are made through the University's subscription agent, currently EBSCO Industries Inc. Options to extend for two periods of one year each.

1

ATTACHMENT 2



Office of the General Counsel Richard F. Orr Vice President and General Counsel

January 27, 2016

TO: Members of the Board of Trustees

FR:

Scott A. Jordan
Executive Vice President State S Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer

RE: Revisions to the Policy on the Selection of Outside Legal Counsel

RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees adopt the revised policy on Selection of Outside Legal Counsel attached to this memorandum.

BACKGROUND

The policy on selection of outside legal counsel ("Outside Counsel") was first adopted by the Board in 1995 following the passage of the UConn 2000 statute which authorized the University to select its own counsel for such projects.

The policy was revised in 2012 after the Office of the General Counsel was established to give that office primary responsibility for the selection process. The proposed revisions extend the policy to circumstances other than UConn 2000 where the University may select Outside Counsel. It also clarifies that the selection of Outside Counsel is to be done in a manner consistent with applicable procurement statutes.

PROPOSED RESOLUTION

RESOLVED, that the attached revised policy on Selection of Outside Legal Counsel be approved in place of the current policy and that it be effective immediately. Prior policies and practices regarding the same subject matter are superseded by this revised policy.

Attachments:

Proposed policy (clean) Proposed policy (showing changes from current policy)

UCONN

Title	Selection of Outside Legal Counsel
Policy Owner	General Counsel's Office
Applies to	Legal Counsel
Campus Applicability	All Campuses Including UConn Health
Effective Date	January 27, 2016
For More Information Contact	General Counsel
Contact Information	(860) 486-5796
Official Website	http://generalcounsel.uconn.edu/

Selection of Outside Legal Counsel

REASON FOR POLICY

When state agencies and constituent units require outside legal counsel ("Outside Counsel"), it has been the general practice of the Office of the Attorney General to select, and contract with, Outside Counsel.

The University of Connecticut 2000 Act ("UConn 2000"), General Statutes §§10a-109a through 10a-109y, authorizes the University to select outside, private legal counsel, in consultation with the Attorney General, in connection with the construction, operation and maintenance of any UConn 2000 project. The UConn 2000 Act specifies that the Board of Trustees shall determine the effective and efficient method or methods of obtaining legal services. Sections 10a-109d(a)(5) and 10a-109n(e)(4)(F). This policy defines the method approved by the Board of Trustees for the selection of Outside Counsel pursuant to statute and in other circumstances where the University may select Outside Counsel on its own behalf. Other circumstances include when the required legal services are in conjunction with labor relations matters.

APPLIES TO

This policy applies to the University's selection of Outside Counsel in connection with any UConn 2000 project and in other situations where the University has the ability to select Outside Counsel.

POLICY STATEMENT

It is the policy of the University of Connecticut that when the University seeks Outside Counsel, the determination of whether to engage Outside Counsel and the selection of counsel shall be made by the University's Vice President and General Counsel in consultation with the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer or their respective successors in function.

The process for the selection of Outside Counsel shall be consistent with applicable statutory requirements for the procurement of professional services. Cost of services shall be considered as one of the criteria, but cost shall not be the sole consideration.

ENFORCEMENT

Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary measures in accordance with University Laws and By-Laws, General Rules of Conduct for All University Employees, applicable collective bargaining agreements, and the University of Connecticut Student Conduct Code.

POLICY HISTORY

Policy Created: July 1995*

Revisions:

August 8, 2012*

January 27, 2016*

^{*}Approved by the Board of Trustees

UCONN

Title	Selection of Outside Legal Counsel
Policy Owner	General Counsel's Office
Applies to	Legal Counsel
Campus Applicability	All Campuses Including UConn Health
Effective Date	<u>January 27, 2016</u> August 8, 2012
For More Information Contact	General Counsel
Contact Information	(860) 486-5796
Official Website	http://generalcounsel.uconn.edu/

Selection of Outside Legal Counsel

REASON FOR POLICY

When state agencies and constituent units require outside legal counsel ("Outside Counsel"), it has been the general practice of the Office of the Attorney General to select, and contract with, Outside Counsel.

The University of Connecticut 2000 Act ("UConn 2000"), General Statutes §§10a-109a through 10a-109y, authorizes the University to select outside, private legal counsel, in consultation with the Attorney General, in connection with the construction, operation and maintenance of any UConn 2000 project. The UConn 2000 Act specifies that the Board of Trustees shall determine the effective and efficient method or methods of obtaining legal services. Sections 10a-109d(a)(5) and 10a-109n(e)(4)(F). This policy defines the method approved by the Board of Trustees for the selection of Oeutside Ceounsel pursuant to statute and in other circumstances where the University may select Outside Counsel on its own behalf. Other circumstances include when the required legal services are in conjunction with labor relations matters.

APPLIES TO

This policy applies to the University's selection of <u>oO</u>utside, <u>private legal eC</u>ounsel in connection with any UConn 2000 project and in other situations where the University <u>has the ability to select Outside Counselmay be authorized to select its own counsel</u>.

POLICY STATEMENT

It is the policy of the University of Connecticut that when the University seeks selects Ooutside legal Ceounsel, the determination of whether to engage Ooutside Ceounsel and the selection of counsel shall be made by the University's Vice President and General Counsel in consultation with the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer or their respective successors in function.

The process for the selection of Outside Counsel shall be consistent with applicable statutory requirements for the procurement of professional services. procedure shall include public advertisement, the submission of qualifications and experience relevant to the area of law in which services are sought, evaluation of the submissions by a committee including members with relevant

expertise and consultation with the Office of the Attorney General. The $c\underline{C}$ ost of services shall be considered as one of the criteria, but cost shall not be the sole consideration.

ENFORCEMENT

Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary measures in accordance with University Laws and By-Laws, General Rules of Conduct for All University Employees, applicable collective bargaining agreements, and the University of Connecticut Student Conduct Code.

POLICY HISTORY

Policy Created: July 1995*

Revisions: ____August 8, 2012*

January 27, 2016*

*Approved by the Board of Trustees

ATTACHMENT 3



Office of the General Counsel Richard F. Orr Vice President and General Counsel

January 27, 2016

TO: Members of the Board of Trustees

FR:

Scott A. Jordan

Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer

Richard F. Orr

Vice President and General Counsel

RE: Exercise of the University's Ownership Rights

RECOMMENDATION

The University administration recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the resolutions below (a) confirming the President's authority to exercise the University's rights of ownership in any corporation or other business entity in which the University has an ownership interest; and (b) authorizing the President to sub-delegate such authority, but only to one or more of her direct reports.

BACKGROUND

<u>University Ownership</u>. The University holds ownership interests in business entities for a variety of reasons. For example, a donor may gift stock in a private business to the University, rather than to the Foundation; that stock may or may not be publicly traded. When faculty produce inventions, the intellectual property rights belong to University and the University may sell or license the invention to a company which seeks to develop the invention into a commercial product. Sometimes the University obtains stock or other ownership rights in connection with the sale or license of such invention.

In addition to these existing examples, the University is in the process of expanding its support for technology commercialization programs that promote the University's research enterprise and other economic development initiatives. UConn recently became the sole owner of The University of Connecticut Research and Development Corporation ("UConn R&D") when the UConn Foundation transferred ownership of UConn R&D to the University. UConn R&D is a for-profit corporation that holds investments in approximately thirty commercial companies. Those companies use technology and processes developed by faculty and staff of the University.

<u>Presidential Authority</u>. As a sole or partial owner of these business entities, the University has certain ownership rights. The significance of those rights varies greatly. An owner's rights are significant when the University is the sole shareholder, as in the case of UConn R&D. Those rights are much less significant when the University owns only a few shares of a publicly traded company.

Historically, the President has had the ability to exercise the University's ownership rights, consistent with University governance. As provided in the By-laws, the Board's responsibilities include managing investments, but the functions of the Board of Trustees are legislative and not executive. By-Laws Article I. The President is the chief executive of the University, responsible for the operation of the University, and is given the authority required to carry out that function. By-Laws Article II. Accordingly, the President is responsible for exercising the ownership rights of the University in businesses or other investments in which the University has an ownership interest. The exercise of such rights may include matters concerning the election of directors and other significant company decisions, like the sale or dissolution of a company, among others.

<u>Delegation</u>. The resolutions below formalize the authority of the University's President to exercise the ownership rights of the University and authorize the President to delegate such authority to one or more of the President's direct reports. If so delegated, such University official is not authorized to further delegate such authority. This delegation is independent of, and unrelated to, the delegation by the Board of Trustees to a member of its Finance Committee to execute documents in connection with the sale of UConn 2000 bonds.¹

PROPOSED RESOLUTION

RESOLVED, that the University's President shall have all authority necessary to exercise, on behalf of the University, the University's rights of ownership in any corporation or other business entity in which the University has an ownership interest;

RESOLVED, that the University's President is hereby authorized to re-delegate the authority described in the preceding resolution to a University official who reports directly to the President. Any such re-delegation is subject to the following limitations:

- a. The delegated authority may not be further re-delegated by such official to any other person; and
- b. The delegated authority terminates automatically upon such official's change in position or separation from the University;

and

¹ See "Delegation of Authorized Officer For Sale Purposes for UConn 2000 General Obligation and Special Obligation Bonds" (January 29, 2014) delegating this authority to Trustee Shari G. Cantor pursuant to Connecticut General Statues Section 10a-109g(a)(1).

RESOLVED, that the University's President and duly delegated University officials are hereby further authorized to execute, deliver and perform, in the name of and on behalf of the University, such certificates, instruments, documents and agreements as each of them may deem necessary, useful or required in furtherance of the foregoing resolutions.

ATTACHMENT 4





January 27, 2016

TO:

Members of the Board of Trustees

FROM:

Susan Herbst

RE:

Recommendation for Approval of Collective Bargaining Agreement with UCPEA

RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees approve the attached tentative Collective Bargaining Agreement between the University of Connecticut ("UConn" or "University") and the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association Local 3695 AFTCT, AFT, AFL-CIO ("UCPEA" or "Union") by adopting the resolution at the end of this Memorandum.

BACKGROUND

Since 2011, all UConn employees who are members of a collective bargaining unit have been working under the provisions of a statewide labor agreement negotiated by the state and the State Employee Bargaining Agent Coalition (SEBAC).

In anticipation of that five-year agreement expiring this summer, in the fall of 2015 the University began direct contract negotiations with each of the collective bargaining units that are specific to UConn.

In December, after approximately 12 weeks of negotiations, the University was able to come to a tentative agreement at the bargaining table on a new contract between the University and the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association (UCPEA). Earlier this month, the union membership voted to ratify the tentative collective bargaining agreement.

UCPEA is UConn's largest full-time bargaining unit with nearly 1900 members. UCPEA represents non-teaching professionals at all UConn locations other than UConn Health. UCPEA has members in virtually every department and work unit in the institution. Members of this bargaining unit include admissions officers, residence hall directors, physicians, nurses, accountants, academic advisors, food service managers and culinary professionals, financial aid counselors, librarians, information technology staff and many others.

The proposed five-year agreement contains important new provisions and language that address several longstanding concerns shared by both the University and the Union. The agreed-upon changes are focused on updating antiquated or ineffective systems and making strategic investments to reward excellence, increase worker productivity, and promote professional development and career advancement.

If this Board approves the Agreement, it will be filed with the General Assembly who may either approve the Agreement, reject it, or it will be deemed approved if no action is taken within 30 days from the date it was filed. If approved, the Agreement will take effect on July 1, 2016, and run through June 30, 2021.

SUMMARY OF KEY CONTRACT TERMS

Merit Pay: The ineffective "check box" merit pay system tied to annual performance ratings is replaced with a vastly improved and more focused performance-based compensation model.

<u>Classification and Reclassification</u>: The antiquated classification system and associated job titles/descriptions will be overhauled and updated in accordance with a clear framework that the parties have mutually established. The system will include the opportunity for career progression within a classification based on increased job proficiency over time. Employees will be able to advance from a baseline of Proficient to an intermediate level or rank of Advanced and eventually to the level of Mastery through experience, training and demonstrated skill development.

<u>Compensatory Time</u>: The Agreement only permits the accrual of compensatory time if it cannot be used during the pay period it is earned. The Agreement also caps compensatory time for positions where irregular hours are customary. The Agreement also provides that employees who are designated as essential will receive compensatory time when they are required to work during an emergency closing.

<u>Vacation</u>: The Agreement reduces the number of vacation days that can be used without prior approval. The Agreement increases the amount of vacation time that can be paid out upon separation from 44 to 60 days but now provides that employees terminated for misconduct are not eligible for any vacation payout.

<u>Probationary Periods</u>: The Agreement provides for probationary periods when an employee accepts a new position through promotion, transfer, re-hire or recall from layoff. Currently, only newly hired employees serve a probationary period.

Reductions in Force: The current reduction-in-force language requires up to 12 months of notice, or payment in lieu of such notice, prior to a layoff. The tentative Agreement reduces the payment in lieu of notice to half (50%) of what the employee would have earned had he or she worked the full notice period.

Reimbursement for Professional Development: UConn agreed to increase the UCPEA professional development fund from \$187,000 to \$400,000. These funds are used by professional staff members to participate in job-related seminars, conferences, workshops and other professional activities that increase skills and redound to the benefit of the University.

Reimbursement for Child Care Expenses: UConn agreed to increase the Child Care Fund by \$58,400 (from \$41,600 to \$100,000).

<u>Phased Retirement</u>: UConn agreed to formalize the use of the state Voluntary Schedule Reduction Program to permit UCPEA employees, with the approval of management, to reduce their schedule and workload for up to three years immediately prior to retirement while retaining full benefits.

<u>Salary</u>: The proposed agreement would begin July 1, 2016, and end June 30, 2021. It includes across-the-board wage increases for those employees whose performance is satisfactory of 2% in FY 17 and 1% each year thereafter (FY 18, 19, 20 and 21).

Fiscal Year	FY 17	FY 18	FY 19	FY 20	FY 21
General Wage	2%	1%	1%	1%	1%
Increase	\$				

A pool equal to 1% of pay for UCPEA employees will be created each year to be distributed to a select group of employees whose job performance demonstrably exceeds expectations as follows: .5% as merit raises for those employees who have advanced the mission and goals of their department and sustained a level of performance that consistently exceeds their peers and .5% as one-time performance payments of between \$1,000 and \$5,000 for extraordinary job-related achievement and/or completion of a significant and important departmental or university project or goal.

Note that individual employees are not guaranteed to receive performance-based compensation. Rather, it is awarded at the discretion of each individual employee's supervisor and department/division and is given based solely on merit.

<u>Workweek</u>: The current 35-hour workweek for UCPEA employees will increase to 40 hours per week over the life of the contract.

The current workweek will increase by one and a quarter hours per week annually beginning July 1, 2017 (year 2 of 5-year agreement), the workweek is 40 hours on July 1, 2020. To compensate for the increased work hours, employee base pay will be increased by 2.5% for each of the four years that the workweek increases.

Note that all employees who are hired for UCPEA positions after the contract becomes effective on July 1, 2016, will begin as 40-hour employees and will not receive this 2.5% increase.

Duration: Five-year duration from July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2021.

RESOLUTION

Resolved by the Board of Trustees that the Tentative Agreement for a collective bargaining agreement between the University of Connecticut ("University") and the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association Local 3695 AFTCT, AFT, AFL-CIO is hereby approved; and

That the President of the University is authorized to execute such Agreement on behalf of the University; and

That the President is authorized to do all things necessary to implement the Agreement.

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

The University of Connecticut Board of Trustees

And

The University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association Local 3695 AFTCT, AFT, AFL-CIO

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag	e
Article 1.	Recognition	l
Article 2.	Role of Professional Staff)
Article 3.	Board Prerogatives)
Article 4.	Professional Freedom	,
Article 5.	Nondiscrimination	ŀ
Article 6.	Vacation Leave	1
Article 7.	Notice of Intent to Leave	,
Article 8.	Holidays6)
Article 9.	Personal Leave6)
Article 10.	Civic Obligations	7
	10.1 Jury Duty or Court Appearances under Subpoena	7
	10.2 Civic Emergencies.	7
Article 11.	Sick Leave.	7
	11.3 Sick Leave Bank	}
	11.4 Workers' Compensation)
	11.5 Fitness for Duty Examinations	
Article 12.	Maternity and Parental Benefits)
Article 13.	Educational Leave 10	0
	13.2 Educational Leave Application Procedure	1
Article 14.	Maintenance of Status While on Paid Leave	1
Article 15.	Leaves Without Pay. 12	2
	15.1 Union Leave Without Pay	2
	15.2 Emergency Leave Without Pay	,
	15.3 Professional Educational Leave Without Pay	2
	15.4 Maintenance of Status While on Unpaid Leave	•
	15.5 Voluntary Leave Program	2
Article 16.	Work Schedules	3

	16.4 Telecommuting	14
Article 17.	Student Health Services	14
	17.2 Shift Differentials	14
	17.3 Advice Nurses - Weekends.	15
	17.4 Sexual Assault Response Nurses and	
	Mental Health Services – Weekends	16
	17.5 Mental Health Services – Weekends	16
	17.6 .75 FTE and 9 Month Registered Nurses	17
	17.7 Student Health Physician and Director of Sports Medicine	17
Article 18.	Compensatory Time	18
	18.1 Non-Exempt Employees	18
	18.2 Exempt Employees	18
	18.4 On Call	19
	18.5 Compensatory Time for Positions in Athletics and Residential Life	19
	18.6 Compensatory Time for Essential/Emergency Support Services Staff	
	During University Closure	20
Article 19.	Employee Files	20
Article 20.	Probationary Employees.	21
Article 21.	Evaluation	23
	21. 2 Evaluation Procedures.	23
Article 22.	Dismissal or Other Disciplinary Action	25
Article 23.	Grievance Procedure	26
	23.1 Definitions	26
	23.2 Time Limits	27
	23.3 Procedure for Non-Contractual Grievances	27
	23.4 Procedure for Contractual Grievances	28
	23.5 Authority of the Arbitrator.	29
	23.6 General Provisions.	29
Article 24.	No Work Stoppage	30

Article 25.	Career Ladders	30
Article 26.	Vacancies and Job Posting	31
Article 27.	Reduction of Professional Staff	31
Article 28.	Mergers and Acquisitions	35
Article 29.	Meet and Discuss	35
Article 30.	Parking	35
	30.5 Parking at the Regional Campuses and Law School	36
Article 31.	Job Classification	36
	31.1 Classification System.	36
	31.2 Career Progression.	37
	31.3 Reclassification Process.	37
	31.4 Reclassification Salary Increase	39
	31.5 Temporary Appointments	39
Article 32.	Salary	40
	32.1 Salary Increases.	40
	32.2 Performance-Based Compensation.	40
	32.3 One-time Performance Awards.	41
	32.4 Salary Schedules	41
	32.5 Longevity.	44
	32.6 Prorating of Salary and Benefits for Nine and Ten Month Employees	44
	32.7 Reopener	44
Article 33.	Retirement, Medical Benefits and Disability Insurance	44
Article 34.	Tuition Reimbursement and Professional Development	45
Article 35.	Tuition Waivers	46
	35.1 Employee	46
	35.2 Children	46
Article 36.	Child Care	47
Article 37.	Travel	47
Article 38.	Health and Safety	47

	38.1 Committee on Safety	47
Article 39.	Consulting Policy	48
Article 40.	Union Leave	48
	40.1 Release Time for Union Business	48
	40.2 Attendance at Conventions	49
	40.3 Internal Training for Union Representatives	49
Article 41.	Representation Rights and Responsibilities	49
	41.1 Protection from Discrimination.	49
	41.2 Union List of Officers and Representatives	49
	41.3 Conducting Union Business on University Premises	49
	41.4 Bulletin Boards	50
	41.5 Access to Information.	50
	41.6 Mailroom	50
	41.7 Service Contribution.	50
	41.8 Union Access.	50
Article 42.	UCPEA Security and Payroll Deductions	51
Article 43.	Savings Clause	52
Article 44.	Temporary and End-Date Employees.	52
Article 45.	Pay Equity	53
Article 46.	Wireless Communication Device Stipends	54
Article 47.	Phased Retirement Program.	54
Article 48.	Zipper Clause	55
Article 49.	Duration	55
Article 50.	Legislative Action	55
Article 51.	Sign Off.	56
Index		57

Article 1. RECOGNITION

1.1

Pursuant to the provisions of Connecticut General Statute §§ 5-270, et seq., and as certified by the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations in Case No. SE-3541, Decision No. 1481, dated January 24, 1977, the Board of Trustees of the University of Connecticut (hereinafter referred to as "the University" or referred to as "the Board") hereby recognizes the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association, Local 3695, American Federation of Teachers Connecticut (AFT-CT), American Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as "the Union" or referred to as "the Bargaining Agent" or referred to as the "UCPEA") as the exclusive bargaining agent for all professional employees excluding those in the Faculty Unit or with faculty rank, faculty in the Law School, those in the University of Connecticut Health Center (Farmington) and the following titles:

President

Provost

Vice Provost

Assistant Vice Provost

Vice President

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Executive Vice President

Associate Vice President

Chief of Staff

Deputy Chief of Staff

Associate Vice Provost

Assistant Vice President

Dean

Associate Dean

Assistant Dean

Dean of Students

Specialist I-IV

University Staff Professionals I-VI

University Educational Assistants I-III

Coaches

University Technicians I-II

Directors who meet the criteria for management and/or confidential exclusions under C.G.S. § 5-270.

Associate Directors who meet the criteria for management and/or confidential exclusions under C.G.S. § 5-270.

Assistant Directors who meet the criteria for management and/or confidential exclusions under C.G.S. § 5-270.

Part-time professional employees on the regular payroll who are employed less than 1/2 time.

Any other employee who meets the criteria for management and/or confidential exclusions under C.G.S. § 5-270.

1.2

Notwithstanding the exclusions listed above, the Board of Trustees reserves its right under the State Collective Bargaining Statute, Section 5-270, to exclude additional positions which are or which may become managerial during the life of this contract.

Article 2. ROLE OF PROFESSIONAL STAFF

2.1

The Board of Trustees recognizes the importance of the professional staff to the excellence of the University and considers their contribution an integral part of the University's mission to provide education for the citizens of Connecticut.

Professional staff include, among others, academic advisors, accountants, computer programmers, financial aid staff, health care professionals, librarians, public service unit personnel, student affairs personnel, research administrators, and others engaged in the administration of the University and its programs.

Professional employee means any employee engaged in work:

- a. predominantly intellectual and varied in character, as opposed to routine mental, manual, mechanical or physical work;
- b. involving the consistent exercise of discretion and judgment in its performance;
- c. of such a character that the output produced or the result accomplished cannot be standardized in relation to a given time period; and
- d. requiring at least a four-year college degree or equivalent advanced professional training customarily acquired through formal instruction and study.

This article is not grievable under the contractual or non-contractual grievance procedure.

Article 3. **BOARD PREROGATIVES**

3.1

It is recognized that the Board of Trustees has and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, the sole and unquestioned right, responsibility or prerogative to direct the operations of the University of Connecticut, its schools and branches, in all aspects. The Board shall make rules for

the governance of the University including, but not limited to, those concerning the admission of students; the setting of fees for tuition and refund of tuition; the establishment of schools, colleges, divisions and departments; and the expenditure of the University's funds within the amounts available.

3.2

The ability to determine, to make rules for, or to approve such things as the care, maintenance, and operation of buildings, land, apparatus, and other property used for school purposes; educational policy, programs, and courses; staffing requirements, the academic calendar; the selection, appointment or assignment of duties and hours of work; leaves of absence, vacations, sick leaves, terminations of service, qualifications, rank, and status of individual members of the professional staff, standards of performance, discipline, order and efficiency, as well as the decision to reward, promote, demote, suspend, discipline or discharge unit members for lack of work or other legitimate reasons; to determine whether the whole or any part of the operation shall continue; to submit budgets to the General Assembly, to make such transfers of funds within the appropriated budget as it shall deem desirable, and to expend monies appropriated by the State of Connecticut for the maintenance of the University shall be under the sole jurisdiction of the Board of Trustees.

3.3

These rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are not subject to delegation in full or in part except that the same shall not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with or in violation of any of the specific terms and provisions of this agreement. No action taken by the Board with respect to such rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives other than the specific provisions contained in this agreement shall be subject to the contractual grievance provision of this contract.

Article 4. PROFESSIONAL FREEDOM

4.1

The University shall endeavor to preserve and facilitate freedom of speech, written or oral, and other constitutionally protected civil liberties. The UCPEA and its members recognize their obligation to be accurate, exercise appropriate restraint, and show respect for the opinions of others.

Employees shall endeavor to seek internal remedies to University problems before turning to outside resources such as those provided by state or federal statutes. With issues related to their jobs, employees shall inform their supervisors and shall seek to exhaust administrative remedies within the University before issuing public statements.

4.2

Repeated failure to abide by this article may be considered grounds for disciplinary action.

Article 5. NONDISCRIMINATION

5.1

The University and the Union shall not discriminate against any professional employee on the basis of race, disability unrelated to ability to perform the job, religion, national origin, sex, age, gender identity, marital status or sexual orientation, or any other protected class, or membership or participation in, or association with, the activities of any employee organization or political party.

The University Office of Diversity and Equity (ODE) has responsibility for diversity and equity compliance at the University. All complaints alleging discrimination are most appropriately addressed by ODE for investigation, and will be referred directly to that Office. Such complaints shall not be subject to the contractual or non-contractual grievance procedures provided for in Article 23. The University ODE, CHRO or EEOC shall be the sole forums in which resolution to discrimination claims may be sought.

Concerns about diversity and affirmative action shall be raised initially in Labor/Management meetings with additions to attendance appropriate to the subject being addressed.

Article 6. VACATION LEAVE

6.1

Each employee shall be entitled to annual vacation according to the following schedule:

- a. 12-month employees shall receive 1.75 vacation days credit for each month of employment, plus one additional day, for a total of 22 days maximum per year.
- b. Employees working fewer than 12 months (including 9 or 10-month employees who are paid on a 12-month basis) shall accrue vacation on a prorated basis. Employees employed on a part-time basis shall accrue vacation on a prorated basis.
- c. Recognizing that large vacation accumulations are to be used during departmental slow times, all employees may accumulate vacation credit of up to 60 vacation days, except as noted below:

Vacation days may not be accumulated beyond this amount except by specific permission of a University Vice President, Director or designee. It is understood that employees who have previously accumulated more than the 60 days may retain this accumulation provided that in no case may the employee's accumulation exceed the number of days he/she

presently has. The original entitlement over 60 days diminishes upon use until it reaches 60 days. (It does not remain as a permanent entitlement of additional possibility of accrual.) Once below 60 days, it cannot be accumulated beyond 60 again.

An employee whose reasonable request for vacation time has been denied shall be permitted to accrue that time beyond the 60 days.

- d. A legal holiday, as enumerated in Article 8 below, which occurs during the employee's vacation shall not be charged against the employee as a vacation day.
- e. To the extent possible, consistent with a department's workload, the choice of vacation periods shall be up to the individual employees. In the event of unresolved conflicts over vacation schedules between two or more employees within the same department, preference shall be determined by seniority within the department provided that final decision shall be based on the needs of the department and shall be determined by the appropriate Dean, Director or Department Head. Employees may take up to 2 vacation days per calendar year without requesting them in advance from their Dean, Director or Department Head. Employees may not take said 2 vacation days in conjunction with the 2 personal leave days provided for in Article 9.1 in order to be excused from work for 4 consecutive days.
- f. If any employee's service is separated for any reason except for termination for misconduct, the employee (or the employee's estate if deceased) shall be entitled to receive full pay for each unused vacation day up to 60 days. Employees who are terminated for misconduct will not be entitled to any payment for vacation day accruals.
- g. If an employee becomes ill or is injured while on vacation, such time shall be charged against sick leave, provided that if requested, the employee provides the appropriate Dean, Director or Department Head with medical documentation of said illness or injury.

Article 7. NOTICE OF INTENT TO LEAVE

7.1

Employees intending to leave the employ of the University must give one month's notice in advance. After giving notice, such employees must serve at least ten (10) workdays on the job prior to leaving. Employees serving less than ten (10) workdays on the job shall forfeit one day of paid vacation for each day less than ten (10) workdays on the job. This requirement may be waived by the appropriate Vice President, Director, or designee.

Article 8. **HOLIDAYS**

8.1

Each employee shall be entitled to time off with pay for each legal holiday listed herein or any other legal holiday declared by the Governor or General Assembly.

LEGAL HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Lincoln's Birthday, Washington's Birthday, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

If such a holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be observed on the preceding Friday. If such holiday falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed on the following Monday.

Any employee who is required to work on a legal holiday shall be granted a compensatory day for that holiday to be taken by the end of the succeeding calendar year at a time mutually agreed to by the parties. In order to earn a day for use as a religious holiday, an employee may request to work on a holiday on which his/her department is open.

8.2

Part-time employees shall be granted time off with pay on a pro-rated basis for holidays. Employees who work less than a full-time five-day workweek over 12 months will receive all 12 holidays on a pro-rated basis.

Article 9. PERSONAL LEAVE

9.1

Each employee in the bargaining unit shall be entitled to 2 days per year for emergencies or personal business. Employees shall be expected to notify their supervisors of their anticipated absence as early as possible. Personal leave is not accrued.

Article 10. CIVIC OBLIGATIONS

10.1 Jury Duty or Court Appearances Under Subpoena

Each employee called as a juror or subpoenaed to appear in court for reasons resulting from his/her University employment, shall be granted leave for that purpose at no loss of pay or charge to other leave, provided that:

- a. The employee notifies the appropriate department head within four (4) days of receiving notification to serve as a juror or of receiving the subpoena.
- b. The employee either refuses pay, excluding mileage, for serving on a jury or turns the jury pay over to the University.

10.2 Civic Emergencies

Employees who are fire, ambulance, or other recognized emergency personnel, and who have so notified their supervisors in advance, may request time off for emergency duty. Approval of each request for emergency duty is solely at the discretion of the first level supervisor outside the bargaining unit.

Up to five (5) requests per year may be granted with pay. Additional approved requests shall be charged to vacation time. The denial of time off for civic emergencies is not grievable or arbitrable under this contract.

Article 11. SICK LEAVE

11.1

The University recognizes its obligation to provide paid and unpaid sick leave for bona fide personal illness to members of the professional staff.

a. Full-time employees shall receive paid sick leave for bona fide personal illness up to fifteen (15) workdays per contract year. Part-time employees, including those working less than 12 months, shall have it prorated. Sick leave may also be used for illness or death in the immediate family; however, from the 15 days, leave for these categories shall not exceed 5 days in a fiscal year, except for illness of one's child, grandchild, spouse, domestic partner and/or parent, which shall not exceed 10 days in a fiscal year. Immediate family shall mean parent (guardian, stepparent), parent-in-law, spouse, domestic partner, son or daughter, stepson or stepdaughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, stepson-in-law, stepdaughter-in-law, sibling, sibling-in-law, grandparent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild, niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, or any person living with the employee. Employee's mother, father, child, or any person living with the employee.

- b. Decisions as to the granting of paid sick leave for bona fide personal illness, or for illness in the immediate family when the use of sick days during a fiscal year exceeds 15 workdays, shall be made by the Department. When accompanied by a medical certificate, if requested, and having made adjustments for past use of sick leave, the Department shall grant an employee who requires it no less sick leave than they would have been eligible for had the University had an accrual sick leave system, subject to the fiscal year limits referenced above if the sick leave is to be used for illness or death in the immediate family.
- c. Decisions as to the granting of unpaid or family leave shall be made by the University Administration coordinated by the Department of Human Resources.
- d. Before being granted, all requests for sick leave must be approved (by the first level supervisor outside the bargaining unit) as a bona fide illness, which prevents an employee from carrying out his/her responsibilities. A medical certificate may be required for any illness regardless of the number of days.
- e. Application for sick leave in connection with childbirth shall be considered on the same basis as leave requests for any other sick leave.

11.2

In cases where employees have been allowed to accumulate unused sick leave days, such days shall remain "banked." Employees whose need for sick time for bona fide personal illness exceeds what they would have been entitled to under an accrual system shall, at their option, be entitled to use any banked time. At the time of retirement or termination, any unused "banked" days an employee has remaining shall be subject to the provisions of Section § 5-247 of the State Personnel Act. No employee shall be forced to use her/his banked sick time.

11.3 Sick Leave Bank

- a. The Sick Leave Bank, established effective November 1997, consists of time made available by the donation of accrued vacation or holiday time by members of the bargaining unit.
- b. Donation of time may occur in July and the last pay period in December and shall be either one-half or one-day increments. Access to the bank shall be under guidelines developed by the UCPEA and the University, by way of signed agreement between the parties. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be composed of union members and at least one management member. Each year of the contract the University shall match on a one-to-one basis donations by UCPEA members, up to a maximum of the equivalent of 20 donated days.
- c. The Sick Leave Bank shall be available as a source of sick time when all other options (contract year sick leave allotments, 'as if' accrued sick leave, banked sick leave, vacation, personal leave, holiday and compensatory time) are exhausted. The Sick Leave Bank is for very serious or catastrophic illness or injury. The University may also grant, solely at its discretion, additional paid sick time beyond any allotted from the Sick Leave Bank.

Consideration of additional paid sick time in excess of any allotted from the Sick Leave Bank shall be coordinated by the Department of Human Resources. The Sick Leave Bank may also be available as a source of paid caretaker leave for an employee who must care for the catastrophic illness or injury of a dependent child or spouse, not to exceed leave entitlements provided under the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act. The Sick Leave Bank may only be accessed for paid caretaker leave after the exhaustion of the 10 sick days of leave available pursuant to 11.1 (a) and exhaustion of all vacation, personal leave, holiday and compensatory time.

11.4 Workers' Compensation

When an employee is out of work due to a work-related injury or illness, the procedures and provisions of the Workers' Compensation Statutes will be followed. Should an employee's absence be for less than the duration required for Workers' Compensation coverage to begin, the use of either existing or "as if accrued" sick time shall not disadvantage any future needs for sick time up to the amount utilized. If an employee chooses to supplement the Workers' Compensation pay with his or her own time balances up to 100% of salary, that time shall be deducted and will not be available for future utilization.

11.5 Fitness for Duty Examinations

The University is permitted to compel an examination by a physician or medical provider of the University's choice and at the University's expense in the following situations:

- a. where there are reasonable grounds, based upon observed behavior or lack of performance, suggesting that an employee is unfit to perform the essential functions of the job due to a medical condition (mental or physical);
- b. where the University requires verification that an employee is fit to return to work and perform the essential functions of the position following any medical leave;
- c. where the University requires verification that an employee on medical leave is, in fact, unable to work; and
- d. where there is observed impairment on the job suspected to be the result of drug or alcohol use, pursuant to a protocol mutually agreed upon between the UCPEA and the University by January 2, 2017.

Article 12. MATERNITY AND PARENTAL BENEFITS

12.1

The University shall grant an employee giving birth to a child up to thirty (30) workdays paid leave related to childbirth. Such leave shall be subtracted from her sick leave entitlement to the extent that it exists, including "as if accrued" and previously earned banked sick leave. Time characterized as maternity leave related to childbirth shall commence on the date of birth and

extend 30 workdays thereafter. Unpaid time, either preceding or following the birth, shall be considered as medical or family leave, as appropriate.

12.2

The University shall grant an employee up to 5 workdays paid leave at the time of birth, adoption, or taking custody of a child or for the prenatal or postnatal care of a spouse or significant other. Such leave shall be subtracted from her/his sick leave entitlement if it exists and shall be deducted from that portion of the employee's sick leave available for illness of a child.

Employees shall be entitled to use up to 30 workdays of accrued time (i.e. vacation, compensatory time, holiday time, personal leave) at the time of birth or adoption. This is not subject to management approval nor shall the employee be required to use accrued time in conjunction with unpaid leave.

12.3

Upon expiration of paid leave following the birth or adoption of a child, the employee is entitled to up to twenty-four (24) weeks unpaid leave, with her/his position held, per C.G.S. § 5-248a.

12.4

Following the birth or adoption of a child, parents who do not wish to take a leave of absence without pay as in 12.3 above, nor to return to work full-time, shall be entitled to work half-time for up to six (6) months. Employees may request to work half-time for up to 12 months; any leave beyond the first six months shall be subject to management approval. Approved time utilized during the second six months will be counted toward the employee's entitlement under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

Article 13. **EDUCATIONAL LEAVE**

13.1

Each year of the contract a total of up to four (4) educational leaves may be granted to employees in the bargaining unit in order to engage in projects or develop products that are believed to be of value, or to advance the interests or reputation of the University. All such leaves are a privilege rather than a right. Employees desiring such leave must apply through the chain of command at least one year in advance of the projected leave.

Employees with seven (7) or more years of continuous service in the bargaining unit may be eligible for a one-year educational leave.

Employees on such leaves shall not engage in paid employment elsewhere.

No staff member shall be eligible for more than one such leave in a ten (10) year period. At least ten (10) years shall elapse between leaves. The recipient must agree to return to the University for at least one year of service following the leave.

Employees granted educational leave under Article 13.1 shall be allowed to choose to take a 1/2 year leave at full pay rather than a 1 year leave at 1/2 pay. There is no increase in the number of employees allowed to take such leave annually.

Employees granted educational leave under Article 13.1 shall continue to enjoy the full tuition waiver for the duration of their leave as defined under Article 35.

13.2 Educational Leave Application Procedure

- a. All applications for educational leave shall be made in writing at least one year prior to the date that the leave is to begin. The written application shall contain a description of the proposed activity to be undertaken, as well as an indication of the mutual benefit to the individual and to the University. This application shall be submitted through the appropriate Department Head, Dean or Director, to the Vice President or his or her designee who, in turn, will submit it to the Board of Trustees with a recommendation of the appropriate Department Head, Dean or Director, and Vice President or his/her designee. Only positive recommendations will go beyond the Vice Presidential level.
- b. Applicants shall receive written notice in a timely manner of the recommendation at each level in the supervisory chain of command.
 - Such written notice shall contain a full explanation of the reasons for any unfavorable recommendation. Ordinarily, the applicant will receive written notice of the Board's final action at least six months prior to the requested commencement of the leave.
- c. The Union shall be given written notice of the final approval or disapproval of any application for educational leave.
- d. The educational leave application procedure shall not be grievable.

Article 14. MAINTENANCE OF STATUS WHILE ON PAID LEAVE

14.1

Each employee who is on any paid leave shall automatically receive any pay increases, benefits, accrual of time toward retirement, and standard accrual of vacation time, or seniority that have accrued to his or her position during the period of such leave.

Article 15. **LEAVES WITHOUT PAY**

15.1 Union Leave without Pay

Up to three (3) employees per year, (with an FTE not to exceed one (1)) who are elected or appointed to positions with the Union will, upon prompt application and with the approval of the appropriate Provost, Vice Provost, Vice President or designee, be granted a one-year leave of absence without pay for the purpose of accepting this position. Persons granted full-time leave shall have all insurance and other benefits if they or the Union wish to pay for such benefits. During such leave they shall accrue seniority as though still employed, however, no vacation days will accrue. Persons on partial leave for one year shall retain benefits on a pro-rated basis. Upon return, they shall be placed in the assignment that they left, providing the position has not been eliminated, or placed otherwise in a comparable position for which they are qualified.

15.2 Emergency Leave Without Pay

Short leaves to cover emergency situations may be granted by the appropriate department head if arrangements can be made to assign the work to others. The period of such leave should not exceed ten (10) workdays without prior approval of the Provost, Vice President or his/her designee. This is intended for reasons other than those covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act.

15.3 Professional Educational Leave Without Pay

Leave of absence without pay may be granted by the Provost or Vice President for reasons considered to be in the best interest of the University and in the interests of professional growth and improvement of the staff member concerned. All such cases are treated as special cases. Staff members desiring such leave should apply through their department head to the appropriate Vice Provosts or Vice Presidents.

15.4 Maintenance of Status While on Unpaid Leave

Any employee on unpaid leave shall have his/her position retained and upon his/her return to work shall benefit by any increase in salary and/or fringe benefits that accrued to his/her position during the period of such leave. Vacation, holiday leaves, and seniority do not accrue during unpaid leave.

15.5 Voluntary Leave Program

The Voluntary Leave Program, as constituted on July 1, 1994, shall be extended for the life of the contract. This may be amended based upon discussions/negotiations between the DAS and the SEBAC.

Article 16. WORK SCHEDULES

16.1

The University's regular administrative hours are generally defined as between 8 am and 5 pm. Some units of the University have regular hours that differ from the administrative hours.

UCPEA employees' work schedules normally approximate 35 hours per week. Work schedules for UCPEA employees hired on or before June 30, 2016, will increase by one and one quarter hours per week for each year of the contract, beginning July 1, 2017. Effective July 1, 2017 and for each July 1 of the schedule increase, eligible employees (those hired prior to July 1, 2016) shall receive a 2.5% increase in base salary. Effective July 1, 2020, no full-time UCPEA employee work schedule will be less than 40 hours per week.

Work schedules for UCPEA employees hired on or after July 1, 2016 shall not be less than 40 hours per week. Such employees shall not be eligible for the salary increases referenced above.

UCPEA employees who work less than full-time will have their work schedule and pay adjusted proportionately.

16.2

With the approval of the appropriate Provost, Vice President or designee, departments may establish a flexible schedule program that, while not adversely affecting departmental services, can afford greater flexibility to employees. Flexible schedules are considered non-permanent. Before taking effect, in addition to the written authorization of the manager outside the bargaining unit, all such schedules must be approved by the Department of Human Resources.

Except by mutual agreement otherwise, denials shall be given to employees in writing within twenty (20) workdays of the written request. Any denial of a request for a flexible schedule shall be accompanied by a reason for the denial. Denials shall not be arbitrary, capricious, or without good business reason. Prior to filing a grievance, an employee may ask that a representative of the administration and a representative of the UCPEA attempt to resolve the dispute.

16.3

It is within the management's discretion to adopt a work schedule required to cover the needs of the Department. If a unit adopts a schedule that is different from the schedule to which the employee(s) is/are accustomed, management will first seek volunteers from within the work group. Failing to attract sufficient volunteers, the work group will be empowered to develop schedules to meet the unit's needs. If the work group is unable to address this need, then, consistent with the needs and functionality of the work group, individual employees may be required to work a schedule set by the Department, with 20 working days' notice. Such requirement will not be made arbitrarily or capriciously. Individuals may be exempted from a change in work schedule under this provision for reasons including, but not limited to, demonstrable child/parental care, health or significant personal issues, verified by Human Resources. The parties recognize that the University may require immediate, temporary schedule changes in the event of a local, state, or

federal natural disaster or health emergency. Such schedule changes shall be limited to the duration of the natural disaster or health emergency.

16.4 Telecommuting

Telecommuting is a work arrangement in which some or all of the work is performed at a work site that is off University property, such as the home. It is one of the flexible work arrangements that departments may establish for staff to enable them to achieve a more successful work-life balance. Telecommuting arrangements must be in accordance with University telecommuting procedures and be in the best interest of the University. Managers will be encouraged to give serious consideration to all reasonable requests for telecommuting arrangements with the final authority to approve a telecommuting arrangement resting solely with the President, Provost, Vice President or designee. The President, Provost and Vice President decision is final and binding and is not subject to the grievance process.

The University, in consultation with the UCPEA, shall develop and publish telecommuting procedures on or before January 2, 2017.

Article 17. STUDENT HEALTH SERVICES

17.1 Overtime, Generally

When Student Health Services employees who are licensed as nurses, nurse practitioners, lab technicians or X-ray technicians, are required to work a half shift or more beyond the equivalent of a full-time workweek, they shall be paid at time-and-one-half of their base rate of pay for the additional time worked if they are covered by FLSA. FLSA exempt employees shall receive either time and time-and-one-half pay or time-and-one-half compensatory time. When part-time employees work a half shift or more beyond their regular schedule, they will receive either straight time pay or compensatory time up to the equivalent of a full-time workweek, and time and time-and-one-half worked thereafter.

For FLSA exempt employees, the decision about either pay or compensatory time shall be mutually agreed by the SHS management and the employee. If there is no agreement the individual shall be paid rather than accrue compensatory time.

At no time shall an FLSA exempt employee receive the time-and-one-half pay or compensatory time provided for in this Section while also receiving the stipends or differentials provided in the other Sections of this Article.

17.2 Shift Differentials

a. Night Shift

1. When a Student Health Services employee who is a regular employee of the University and who is licensed as a nurse, nurse practitioner, lab technician or X-ray technician (collectively, "licensed professionals") is scheduled to work the full

weekday night shift, (which shift typically includes those hours between 11:00 pm and 7:00 am, between Monday at 11 pm through Saturday at 7 am) (the "night shift"), s/he shall be paid a differential of 20% of his or her hourly rate as derived from his or her base annual salary for each hour worked. This will not apply to employees who happen to work hours that overlap a portion of the night shift, but do not work the full shift.

- 2. Night shift differentials shall not be added or combined, and in no case will a licensed professional receive more than 20% per hour as a premium for working on a night shift. The night shift differential will only be paid for hours actually worked, and not while the employee is on leave of any nature.
- 3. Under no circumstances will the night shift differential be paid to "Advice Nurses" or "Sexual Assault Response Nurses" unless s/he actually worked at SHS during the weekday night shift.

b. Weekends

- 1. When a licensed professional works hours between 8:00 am Saturday and 8:00 am Monday (the "weekend"), h/she shall be paid a differential of 15% of his or her hourly rate as derived from his or her base annual salary for each hour worked.
- 2. Weekend shift differentials shall not be added or combined, and in no case will a licensed professional receive more than 15% per hour as a premium for working on a weekend. The weekend shift differential will only be paid for hours actually worked, and not while the employee is on leave of any nature.
- 3. Under no circumstances will the weekend shift differential be paid to "Advices Nurses" or "Sexual Assault Response Nurses" unless s/he actually worked at SHS during the weekend shift.

17.3 Advice Nurses - Weekends

- a. Advice Nurse services will be provided off-site on weekends, only during the academic semesters. The shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning on Saturday constitutes a single shift and the shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning on Sunday constitutes a single shift. There will be two such shifts per weekend.
- b. The coverage pools will consist of qualified SHS Nurses who have successfully completed formal training as required by the Department. All coverage is provided on a voluntary basis, and will be scheduled for the entire school year.
- c. The stipend for Advice Nurses for a 4 pm to 8 am shift will be \$264.50.
- d. Nurses may be scheduled for one or the other available shifts, or for both shifts. The scheduled nurse will be responsible for coverage of his/her scheduled shift. If s/he is unable to cover the shift due to emergency reasons, it is her/his responsibility to arrange coverage. If s/he is unable to arrange coverage, s/he will notify the administrator on call, who will arrange coverage if possible, or may authorize the cancellation of coverage for that shift.
- e. The protocol for the Advice Nurse receiving phone calls and the contents of the Medical Resource Bag that the Advice Nurse carries will be established in accordance with accepted medical practice.
- f. The written statement concerning liability from Paul Shapiro, Assistant Attorney General, dated May 20, 1996, is incorporated by reference.

- g. In the unforeseen event that Student Health Services is required to remain open 24 hours on a specific weekend to provide on-site coverage (thus precluding the need for Advice Nurse services), such assignments may be cancelled.
- h. It is within the University's discretion to conclude that there is no longer a need for the Advice Nurse services program, in which case the University is under no obligation to continue this type of work or compensation for any duration.
- i. Nurses filling these positions will be exempt from the provisions of Article 18, Compensatory Time.

17. 4 Sexual Assault Response Nurses and Mental Health Services - Weekends

- a. Assignment of Registered Nurses, Advance Practice Registered Nurses, and Mental Health Services Professionals (MHSP) (collectively referred to in this Section as "staff members") to respond to sexual assault situations, will be provided on weekends, only during the academic semesters. The shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning on Saturday constitutes a single shift and the shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning on Sunday constitutes a second single shift. There will be two such shifts per weekend.
- b. The coverage pool will consist of qualified SHS Nurses and MHSP who have successfully completed formal training as required by the Department. All coverage is provided on a voluntary basis, and will be scheduled for the entire school year. SHS management may disqualify an employee from eligibility for this assignment in their sole discretion, if it is decided that the employee resides too far away from the campus to be able to report in the required timeframe.
- c. The stipend for a 4 p.m. to 8 am shift will be \$300. A staff member called in to work will be paid for actual time worked, including travel time from home to the work site, but not less than two hours, at their regular rate of pay.
- d. Staff members may be scheduled for one or the other available shifts, or for both shifts. The scheduled staff member will be responsible for coverage of the scheduled shift. If the staff member is unable to cover the shift due to emergency reasons it is the staff member's responsibility to arrange coverage. If the staff member is unable to arrange coverage the staff member will notify the administrator on call who will arrange coverage if possible or may authorize the cancellation of coverage for that shift.
- e. The protocol for contacting the staff members with instruction to report to Student Health services will be established and published at the beginning of the program.
- f. In the unforeseen event that Student Health Services is required to remain open 24 hours on a specific weekend to provide on-site coverage (thus precluding the need for Sexual Assault Response Nurse/MHSP services) such assignments may be cancelled.
- g. It is within the University's discretion to conclude that there is no longer a need for the Sexual Assault Response Nurse/MHSP services program, in which case the University is under no obligation to continue this type of work or compensation for any duration.
- h. Staff members filling the aforesaid position will be exempt from the provisions of Article 18, Compensatory Time.

17.5 Mental Health Services - Weekends

a. After-hours Mental Health Services within the Student Health Service will be provided on weekends, only during the academic semesters. The shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning

- on Saturday constitutes a single shift and the shift between 4 pm and 8 am beginning on Sunday constitutes a second single shift. There will be two such shifts per weekend.
- b. The coverage pool will consist of qualified UCPEA bargaining unit Mental Health Services Professionals. All coverage is provided on a voluntary basis, and will be scheduled for the entire school year.
- c. The stipend for a 4 pm to 8 am shift will be \$230.
- d. Additionally, if the Mental Health Services Professional is required to come in s/he shall accrue compensatory time as outlined in the collective bargaining agreement.
- e. A location shall be identified in one of the residence halls where the Mental Health Services Professional can meet confidentially with students. In case of emergency, there shall be a phone available in this room and a residence hall employee shall wait outside the door. Parking shall be available for the Mental Health Services Professional.
- f. The scheduled Mental Health Services Professional will be responsible for coverage of his/her scheduled shift. If s/he is unable to cover the shift due to emergency reasons, it is his/her responsibility to arrange coverage. If she is unable to arrange coverage, she will notify the administrator on call, who will arrange coverage if possible, or may authorize the cancellation of coverage for that shift.
- g. The protocol for receiving phone calls and the contents of the Medical Resource Bag that the Advice Nurse carries will be established in accordance with accepted medical practice.
- h. The written statement concerning liability from Paul Shapiro, Assistant Attorney General, dated May 20, 1996, is incorporated by reference.
- i. In the unforeseen event that Student Health Services is required to remain open 24 hours on a specific weekend to provide on-site coverage (thus precluding the need for MHSP services) such assignments may be cancelled.
- j. It is within the University's discretion to conclude that there is no longer a need for the MHSP services program, in which case the University is under no obligation to continue this type of work or compensation for any duration.

17. 6 .75 FTE and 9 Month Registered Nurses

- a. Except by agreement otherwise, all licensed professionals employed by SHS for a 9-month or 75% work schedule will begin the work year one week prior to the first day of classes at the start of the fall semester, at the discretion of the Department as necessary within the operational needs of SHS.
- b. These .75 FTE or 9 month licensed professionals shall accrue vacation time as if the employee worked one continuous month for the portion of time worked in May and portion of time worked in August.

17.7 Student Health Physician and Director of Sports Medicine

- a. The positions "Student Health Services Physician" and "Director of Sports Medicine" will be exempt from the salary limitations stated in Section 32.4 Salary Schedules.
- b. These positions will be exempt from all general provisions of Article 18, Compensatory Time, but will be eligible for "On-Call" pay pursuant to that Article.
- c. All other provisions of this collective bargaining agreement shall remain in effect for these positions.

Article 18. COMPENSATORY TIME

18.1 Non-Exempt Employees

Compensatory time for non-exempt employees shall be in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

- a. Non-exempt members of the bargaining unit shall be paid their "regular rate of pay" for each hour worked up to 40 in a workweek consistent with the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") and State Department of Labor wage and hour laws and regulations. The implementation of this section shall be consistent with Article 16 of the collective bargaining agreement.
- b. Non-exempt UCPEA employees "regular rate of pay" shall be determined by dividing their bi-weekly pay rate by up to eighty hours.
- c. Non-exempt UCPEA employees will continue to receive compensatory time off for hours worked in excess of forty in a workweek in accordance with the FLSA and the collective bargaining agreement between the UCPEA and UCONN.
- d. Non-exempt UCPEA employees will be required to complete a time card every pay period. Time worked will be reported on a daily basis in quarter hour increments. Use of paid leave time will be charged in quarter hour increments with a one hour minimum.
- e. Compensatory time shall be afforded at the rate of one and one half hours for each hour for which overtime compensation is required by FLSA.
- f. When an employee's compensatory time earned under Article 18 (i.e. the compensatory time) reaches a total of 240 hours the employee shall be paid for additional compensatory hours earned.
- g. The University may elect to reimburse an employee for any unused compensatory time at any time, at its option.
- h. To the extent possible, consistent with a department's workload, the choice of when to use accrued compensatory time shall be up to the employee.
- i. Upon termination of employment, for any reason, an employee shall be paid out for any unused compensatory time.

18.2 Exempt Employees

Whenever an exempt employee, not including those listed in Article 18.5, is required by his or her supervisor to work extraordinary hours, the supervisor may (1) allow the employee to reduce his or her hours by an equivalent amount within the same pay-period or (2) award compensatory time off to be used in a subsequent pay-period. The following procedures shall be followed:

- a. The first supervisor outside the bargaining unit (or their designee), will confirm in writing to the employee the requirement to work extraordinary hours, specifying the reason for the requirement, and identifying the anticipated reduction in schedule to account for the extraordinary hours worked.
- b. In the event that a reduced schedule within the same pay period is not possible or practical, the supervisor may instead authorize the employee, in writing, to accrue compensatory time for future use. All compensatory time must be recorded on the employee's leave record as it is earned. All compensatory time must be utilized within two years of being earned at times mutually agreeable to the employee and the supervisor.

18.3

Employees will make every effort to request the utilization of accrued compensatory time and supervisors are encouraged to approve these requests whenever business needs permit. If an individual employee's accumulation exceeds a balance of 140 hours, management may opt to pay for the time over 100 hours up to a maximum of 40 hours at a time.

18.4 On Call

An employee is considered to be "on call" when management requires that an individual be continuously available for responding to a work-related call for assistance during hours outside of their normal work schedule. The restraints placed upon the employee's personal freedom shall determine the level of compensation to be afforded for the hours on call as follows:

- a. An employee who is required to be available for call and in order to respond their travel is restricted, shall receive compensatory time equal to twenty-five percent of the time they are required to be on call.
- b. An employee who is required to be available for call, but has no restrictions to their travel in order to respond, shall receive compensatory time equal to ten percent of the time they are required to be on call.
- c. Actual time spent working in response to a call shall be compensated hour for hour with compensatory time.

18.5 Compensatory Time for Positions in Athletics and Residential Life

Due to standard irregular work hours within certain University operations and occupations, a fixed annual amount of compensatory time will be awarded in lieu of the process provided in Section 18.2 as follows:

a. Hall Directors and Community Directors Live-In Staff employed in the Department of Residential Life shall receive seven days of compensatory time in the Fall Semester, seven days of compensatory time in the Spring Semester, and three days of compensatory time in the Summer Semester.

- b. Professional staff in positions within the Division of Athletics that have compensatory time balances in excess of 400 hours as of June 30, 2016, and any similar positions created and filled within the Division of Athletics, shall receive five compensatory days on July 1 of each fiscal year and five compensatory days on January 2 of each fiscal year. Effective the first full pay-period following July 1, 2016, current employees in the Division of Athletics with existing balances in excess of 400 hours as of June 30, 2016 will receive a payment for 25% of the accrued hours. Thereafter, these employees will accrue compensatory time in accordance with this paragraph. All compensatory time accrued under this provision by employees in Athletics must be utilized within one year of being earned at times mutually agreeable to the employee and the supervisor.
- c. Employees will be notified in writing upon hire or reclassification of eligibility for compensatory time under this provision.
- d. No other compensatory time or extra compensation for the irregular hours of work routinely expected of these positions shall be awarded.

18.6 Compensatory Time for Essential/Emergency Support Services Staff During University Closure

UCPEA members who are designated Essential/Emergency Support Services Staff and must report to work during a University closure shall be compensated hour for hour with compensatory time.

Article 19. **EMPLOYEE FILES**

19.1

For the purpose of evaluating an employee, employee files may be maintained at all administrative levels and may contain notes, records and other documentation of employee performance. The employee's official, complete employee file will be housed in the Department of Human Resources.

Each employee shall have the right and may request to review the content of his/her employee file at any reasonable time mutually agreeable to the employee and the Department of Human Resources.

19.2

Others who shall have access to the employee files are:

a. Individuals within the employee's department with stated job responsibilities relating to the maintenance of employee files (i.e., personnel officers, the dean, director, or department head, and confidential secretaries as designated by the supervisor).

- b. Other administrative personnel with legitimate reason may have access through the administrator responsible for the employee file.
- c. The UCPEA may review material in the employee's file at any time. An official representative of UCPEA, with the written authorization from the employee, may review specific material contained in the files relating to a grievance or a pending grievance.

19.3

No negative judgments that have not been discussed with the employee nor any materials that are not contained in the complete employee file may be used in any promotion or disciplinary action.

19.4

No anonymous material of any kind shall be placed in any employee file.

19.5

The employee shall be notified of the placement of any negative evaluative material in his/her employee file within ten (10) workdays, and shall have the right to write a rebuttal to any such material for inclusion in the file.

19.6

Employees recognize their responsibility to review the contents of their employee files.

19.7

The employee shall have the right to obtain a copy of any material placed in his or her employee file (excluding pre-employment records), for which a nominal charge may be levied.

19.8

Nothing in this article shall preclude the existence or maintenance of other employee files of a personnel nature.

Article 20. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

20.1

A probationary employee is an employee who has not completed a working test or trial period in their position. Such a period shall not exceed one year.

a. All employees who have not completed a working test or trial period in the bargaining unit or who have been rehired after a break in service from a position represented by the UCPEA shall serve a one year probationary period.

- b. In addition, any current employee voluntarily reassigned or hired as a result of a search may serve a six-month probationary period, at the sole discretion of the first manager outside of the bargaining unit. Employees who fail their six-month probationary period and are dropped shall be placed on the Article 27 recall list for the position in which they previously held permanent status, for the full duration established in Article 27. Employees voluntarily reassigned or hired as a result of a search shall be eligible for salary increases as established in Article 32 during this probationary period.
- c. Any recalled employee shall serve a six-month probationary period. Employees who are not continued during their six-month probationary period and are dropped shall be placed on the Article 27 recall list for the position in which they previously had permanent status. In the first instance this occurs, the employee shall be entitled to the full duration of the recall period established in Article 27. In any instance thereafter, the employee shall only be entitled to the balance, as of the date of return to the recall list after the first placement, of the recall period established in Article 27. Recalled employees shall be eligible for salary increases as established in Article 32 during this probationary period. A manager shall only be required to accept a recalled employee once for a given position. If such employee is not continued during their probationary period, that manager may then initiate a search for that position.
- d. Employees who are converted from end-date to permanent in the same position after a year of service, reclassified in their own position, and/or involuntarily reassigned shall not be required to serve a probationary period.

Except as provided in Section 20.1 (d), service in a durational position, end-date position, student job or special payroll position does not satisfy any probationary period.

20.2

A newly hired employee shall be provided with a copy of their job description. Newly hired employees will be provided with electronic access to a description and explanation of the Job Classification system.

20.3

Approximately halfway through and at the end of his/her probationary period, each employee shall be given a written evaluation of his/her performance that is not grievable under either 23.1 (a) or 23.1 (b).

20.4

New employees shall be furnished a copy of this agreement together with other orientation materials supplied to the University by the UCPEA.

20.5

In the event that a probationary employee is dismissed before the end of his/her probationary period, he/she shall receive two weeks' notice or pay in lieu thereof.

20.6

In no case shall either the dismissal of an employee during his/her probationary period, or the non-continuation of an employee upon the completion of his/her probationary period, be grievable under any article of this agreement including 23.1 (b), or grievable and arbitrable under 23.1 (a). However, a probationary employee who is dismissed, or who is not continued, may appeal in person within ten (10) days to the office of the appropriate Provost, Vice Provost, Vice President, or designee. Within seven (7) calendar days of the hearing the Provost, Vice Provost, Vice President or designee shall respond in writing. The decision of the Provost, Vice Provost, Vice President or designee is final and not appealable to arbitration.

Article 21. **EVALUATION**

21.1

For the purpose of promoting, maintaining and enhancing excellence in job performance, each department shall provide for evaluations of each UCPEA employee at least once a year. Such evaluations shall permit the continuing assessment of the quality of the individual's performance relative to the required duties described in his/her official job specifications and internal departmental job description (if applicable).

21.2 Evaluation Procedures

- a. The evaluation period shall be May 1st to April 30th of each year.
- b. Management may require employees, or employees may volunteer, to provide an annual report of activity and achievement to be used as a source of information for evaluations. If management makes such a requirement, they must do so in advance of the period for which they want the reporting. Employees shall be given a minimum of two weeks' notice for providing the requested reports. Final reports for an evaluation year must be submitted by April 15th for consideration in the evaluation process.
- c. For the purpose of documenting and appraising the employee's performance during the period, as well as for providing suggestions for improvement, each supervisor of UCPEA staff, including supervisors in UCPEA positions, shall prepare a written evaluation with criteria appropriate to that department or work unit. While an evaluation may be done at any time during the evaluation year, one must be prepared and presented to each employee between April 15th and May 1st of each year.
- d. A cover sheet indicating appropriate demographic information and overall rating of performance that reflects the details of the evaluation shall accompany each evaluation. Ratings should be categorized as follows:

- Outstanding
- Very Good
- Good
- In Need of Improvement
- Unsatisfactory
- e. The written evaluation and cover sheet shall normally be discussed with the employee within seven (7) calendar days of the time they are prepared. The employee shall normally sign the evaluation within seven (7) calendar days from receipt for the sole purpose of indicating that he/she has read it. Failure to sign may be considered cause for disciplinary action.
- f. An employee shall have the right to append to his/her evaluation a written statement presenting his/her concerns as they relate to the evaluation. This will be attached to the evaluation, become a permanent part of the record, and will be the final documentation associated with the performance evaluation.
- g. In addition to the employee's signature, others shall include the immediate supervisor and the first supervisor outside the bargaining unit, provided they are not the same person. The employee shall be given a copy of the final signed document, and a copy shall be sent to HR by May 15th.

21.3

Upon the written request of an employee, a job description will be provided by the Administration.

21.4

An employee may grieve only those evaluations that result in an overall unsatisfactory rating. If the overall unsatisfactory rating results in disciplinary action and the employee was notified of the discipline at the time of the rating, an employee may grieve under Article 22; however, he/she may not also file a separate grievance on the rating under this Article. During the Article 22 grievance the unsatisfactory rating shall be incorporated into the grievance.

Article 22.

DISMISSAL OR OTHER DISCIPLINARY ACTION

22.1

The provisions of this article apply to all non-probationary members of the bargaining unit.

The parties are in agreement that discipline shall be for just cause and that, except in cases of serious misconduct, the dismissal of any employee shall occur as the final step in a progressive disciplinary system and only after the rights of the employee to a fair hearing are provided. Cases of serious misconduct should be dealt with through an immediate administrative leave with pay, followed by a hearing at Step 22.3 (b) below.

Grounds for dismissal or other disciplinary action:

- a. Documented incompetence or failure to meet satisfactory standards of job performance based on written evaluations of his/her performance.
- b. Failure to meet educational requirements or to fulfill professional commitments, including certification and licensing, made in a written agreement at the time of employment.
- c. Misconduct or insubordination to reasonable directives to the employee, given as direct orders which are not illegal, or clearly dangerous, by his/her Dean, Director, Department Head or designee. If the employee feels that an order is not a part of his/her responsibilities, he/she may request and shall be given a written verification of that order. He/she shall carry out the order and aggrieve through the grievance procedure.
- d. Sexual harassment as defined in the CT State Statutes (§ 46a-60(8)).
- e. Drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace as defined in University policies.

22.2

Disciplinary action may include: (a) verbal or written warning or reprimand, (b) withholding of a satisfactory performance increase, (c) suspension without pay, (d) demotion, and (e) dismissal. In a case of a violation of 22.1 (c), (d), or (e) above, an employee may be placed on paid administrative leave of absence while the investigation is completed, if it is adjudged to be in the best interests of the University by the appropriate cabinet officer.

22.3

Procedures to be followed when disciplinary action such as the withholding of a salary increase, suspension without pay, demotion, or dismissal is contemplated:

a. The employee shall be notified in writing, with a copy to the UCPEA office, of the investigatory or fact-finding interview. The employee shall be advised of his/her right to union representation. If representation is waived it shall be done in writing.

- b. When the investigation is complete and before a decision about discipline is made, the employee shall be afforded an opportunity to meet with the appropriate cabinet officer or his/her designee to hear the specific charges, the evidence against him/her, and to present his/her side of the situation. The employee shall be afforded fifteen (15) calendar days written notice of this meeting. Said notice shall include the date, time and location of the meeting, and the specific charges that form the reasons that disciplinary action is under consideration. Union representation is an entitlement at this meeting; if waived, the employee must do so in writing. At such a hearing the employee may call witnesses who he/she feels may have information related to the issue under investigation. A written decision shall be rendered within 15 calendar days from the date of the hearing and shall include a specific notice of discipline to be imposed and the effective date(s) of discipline. An employee who, without legitimate reason, fails to report to this hearing, shall be terminated immediately.
- c. The decision of the appropriate cabinet officer or their designee shall be final except for the appeal provisions noted in 22.3 (e).
- d. No member of the professional staff shall be suspended without pay until after the hearing specified in 22.3 (b). Placement on paid administrative leave described in 22.2 is understood to be part of the disciplinary process, but is not considered discipline.
- e. Suspension without pay, denial of a satisfactory performance increase, demotion or termination may be appealed to arbitration on the merits. For these penalties the arbitrator shall not substitute his/her judgment for that of the administrator except if it has been arbitrary, capricious or unreasonable.

Article 23. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

The Parties agree that all problems should be resolved whenever possible before the filing of a grievance, and they wish to encourage open communication between administrators and employees, so that the formal grievance procedures will not normally be necessary.

23.1 Definitions

- a. A contractual grievance shall be limited to a claim that there has been a violation of a specific term(s) or provision(s) of this agreement or of those conditions of employment, which are specified in the contract.
- b. A non-contractual grievance shall be a dispute concerning the practices and policies of The University of Connecticut.
- c. A grievant may be an individual employee, a group of employees, or the Union on behalf of an individual or group of employees. It is understood that when the Union grieves on

behalf of an employee or a group of employees, it shall identify the individual(s) and that the individual(s) may be required by either party to this agreement to testify at all levels of the grievance procedure.

d. Immediate Supervisor shall mean the first person outside the bargaining unit with responsibility and authority to direct the grievant; it may be a supervisor, department head, director, dean, or someone designated as the supervisor with adequate authority to resolve the matter. If, in a contractual grievance the immediate supervisor is also the appropriate Step Two level administrator, the grievant may elect to file at Step Two and waive a Step One hearing.

23.2 Time Limits

A grievant shall be granted thirty-five (35) calendar days from the event giving rise to the grievance to submit the grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor. If the event occurs while the grievant is on authorized leave from the University and/or could not reasonably be expected to be knowledgeable of the event giving rise to the grievance, the grievant will have up to fourteen (14) calendar days after his/her return to work in which to submit the grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor. Similarly, the supervisor on authorized leave shall have fourteen (14) calendar days after his/her return to work to respond to the grievance in writing. In no case shall The University of Connecticut administration be obliged to process a grievance, which is submitted forty-five (45) days after the event giving rise to the grievance.

23.3 Procedure for Non-Contractual Grievances

a. Step One: Immediate Supervisor

If the informal attempt by the parties does not resolve the problem, the grievant, and a representative of the Union (if the grievant so desires) shall within the limits in 23.2 submit said grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor with a copy of the grievance to Labor Relations. The immediate supervisor will meet with the grievant and an UCPEA representative (if requested by the grievant) within fourteen (14) calendar days of the submission and will give his/her decision in writing within seven (7) calendar days of such meeting.

b. Step Two: Non-Contractual Grievance Panel

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant, or the UCPEA on behalf of a group of employees, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the decision at Step 1, the grievant or the UCPEA, on behalf of the grievant(s), may notify the University Labor Relations Designee that he/she wishes to appeal to the Non-contractual Grievance Panel.

A Non-contractual Grievance Panel shall be chosen for each grievance in the following manner:

1. Within 21 days of the progression to Step Two the UCPEA shall select three (3) persons from within the UCPEA bargaining unit, but not from the

department in which the grievance has been filed. Within 10 days, the University shall choose one of those persons for the Grievance Panel.

- 2. Within 21 days of the progression to the Step Two the University shall select three (3) persons from among the management of the University, but not from the department in which the grievance has been filed. Within 10 days, the Union shall select one of those persons as a member of the Grievance Panel.
- 3. Once the panel has been chosen, the panel's charge shall be given jointly by a representative of the University and a representative designated by the Union.

The two (2) members chosen above shall constitute the Non-contractual Grievance Panel and shall hold a hearing and render their decision, in writing, within forty-five (45) days of receiving their charge. If the decision of the panel is unanimous, it shall be final and binding and not appealable by either party. If the decision is not unanimous, the grievance may go to Step III.

Any changes to the time frame in the Step Two procedure shall be mutually agreed to by the Union and the University. Reasonable requests for extensions shall not be denied.

c. Three: Vice Presidential Step

If the decision of the Non-Contractual Grievance Panel is not unanimous, within fourteen (14) calendar days, the grievant, or the UCPEA on behalf of the grievant(s), may submit the grievance to the appropriate Vice President. The Vice President, Director or his/her designee may review the work of the Non-Contractual Grievance Panel. Within twenty-eight (28) calendar days after submission, the Vice President, Director or designee shall hold a hearing with the grievant and an UCPEA representative and respond in writing. The decision of the Vice President, Director or designee is final.

23.4 Procedure for Contractual Grievances

a. Step One: Immediate Supervisor

If the informal attempt by the parties does not resolve the problem, the grievant and a representative of the Union (if the grievant so desires) shall within the time limits of 23.2 submit said grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor with a copy to Labor Relations. The immediate supervisor will meet with the grievant and the UCPEA representative (if requested by the grievant) within fourteen (14) calendar days of the submission and will give his/her decision in writing within seven (7) days of such meeting.

b. Step Two: Vice Presidential Level

If the grievance has not been resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant, or the Union on behalf of the employees, it shall, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the decision at Step One, be submitted to the Vice President. The Vice President, Director or

designee shall, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the grievance, meet with the grievant and the Union representative. Within seven (7) calendar days of the hearing the Vice President, Director or designee shall respond in writing.

c. Step Three: Arbitration

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the Union, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the decision at Step Two the Union may submit - with notice to the Provost or appropriate Vice President and Labor Relations designee - the grievance to the American Arbitration Association or the Connecticut Board of Mediation and Arbitration.

To qualify for arbitration, the grievance must meet the definition of a contractual grievance as defined in 23.1 (a) and must cite the specific article(s) of the contract involved.

23.5 Authority of the Arbitrator

- a. The arbitrator shall hear and decide only one grievance in each case.
- b. The arbitrator shall neither add to, subtract from, modify nor alter the terms and provisions of this agreement. Arbitration shall be confined solely to the application and/or interpretation of this agreement and the precise issues submitted for arbitration. The arbitrator shall refrain from issuing statements of conclusions not essential to determining the issues submitted.
- c. Fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the Board and the Union.
- d. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding provided that the terms of this section are not violated.

23.6 General Provisions

- a. Any grievance not presented in writing within the time limits of 23.2 shall not thereafter be considered a grievance under this procedure.
- b. Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal a decision within the specified time limit shall be considered acceptance by the aggrieved of the decision rendered and such decision shall thereafter be binding upon the aggrieved and the Union.
- c. Failure at any step by the employer to respond to the grievant and the Union within the time limits specified at any step allows progression to the next step.
- d. Meetings held under this procedure shall be conducted at a time and place, which shall afford a fair and reasonable opportunity to attend for all persons proper to be present. When such meetings are held during working hours, all persons who participate shall be excused without loss of pay for that purpose. Persons proper to attend for the purposes of this section

shall be defined as aggrieved employees, their Union representatives and qualified witnesses.

- e. No complaint informally resolved or grievance resolved at either Step One or Step Two shall constitute a precedent for any purpose, unless the parties agree in writing that it should become a precedent.
- f. Non-contractual grievances terminate with the Vice Presidential step and are not subject to arbitration.
- g. All time limits above may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.
- h. Non-renewal of an employee with an end date, or non-renewal of an employee due to termination or non-renewal of the grant or contract funding his/her position, is not subject to either the contractual or non-contractual grievance procedure.
- i. No policies, rights, responsibilities or prerogatives of the Board of Trustees shall be subject to the contractual grievance procedure and/or arbitration unless exercised in a manner inconsistent with a specific provision of this agreement.

Article 24. NO WORK STOPPAGE

24.1

The Union and the Board agree that any differences between the parties on matters relating to the agreement shall be settled by the means provided in the contract. The UCPEA and its members agree that they will not condone, call, engage in, or participate in any strike, slow down, work stoppage or picketing during normal working hours on behalf of its own, or any other labor organization, during the term of this agreement.

24.2

The University agrees there shall be no lockouts during the term of this agreement.

Article 25. CAREER LADDERS

25.1

The University will continue to support career ladders and encourage work units to establish new programs by providing workshops, training, and resources. The University shall develop and post on the Department of Human Resources website, a template that may be used by

individual work units to initiate new career ladder programs. All current (Residential Life and the Library) and approved career ladder programs shall be maintained during the life of the contract. All new programs will be reviewed by the University and submitted to the Provost or appropriate Vice President, with a copy provided to the UCPEA. Additionally, the University shall have an obligation for periodic reports to the Master Labor Management Committee to enhance the probability for success.

25.2

In order for employees to develop additional professional skills, and upon mutual agreement by the University and an employee, the employee shall be provided with release time of up to one day per week for one year in order for the employee to assume an internship position in another professional role at UConn. All such agreements shall be reduced to writing and shall be coordinated through the University Department of Human Resources.

Article 26. VACANCIES AND JOB POSTING

26.1

All newly created or vacant existing bargaining unit positions shall be posted on the Human Resources web page for two weeks, with an electronic copy to the UCPEA office. This specifically exempts positions that may be created and filled within a single unit. An UCPEA applicant for a bargaining unit position who meets the stated minimum qualifications and identifies him/herself as a member of the unit on his/her vita shall be granted an interview.

26.2

An employee, upon request, shall be given the status of her/his application or the reason he/she was rejected for a position.

26.3

In no case shall the failure to obtain the position or a disagreement with the reasons for being rejected be grievable or arbitrable under this agreement.

Article 27.

REDUCTION OF PROFESSIONAL STAFF

27.1

This section does not refer to probationary employees or those supported by grant funds or contracts.

a. In all cases requiring the termination of professional staff, primary consideration shall be given to the University's responsibility to offer an appropriate range of educational support services.

- b. Whenever a layoff is anticipated, the President or designee shall meet and discuss the potential layoff with the UCPEA. The UCPEA may submit its own proposal for dealing with the problem.
- c. In the event that a layoff is necessary, seniority shall be the determining criterion for selecting which employees shall be laid off within a school, division, department or subdivision of a department, or program.* Exceptions may be made to seniority based upon the following:
 - 1. Affirmative action judged in relation to goals within the last five years for non-teaching professionals in the UCP level.
 - 2. The first level supervisor outside of the unit has taken into consideration the skills, experience and merit of the employees in relation to the needs of the department and the least senior employee is clearly, significantly, and demonstrably superior to the more senior employee as shown through a combination of the following:
 - a. professional publications,
 - b. awards external to the University related to their profession,
 - c. attainment of significant skills or qualifications within their field related to the position, but beyond the minimum requirements of the position,
 - d. self-initiated new programs, projects, or processes that advance the mission of the department or University,
 - e. clear and consistent disparity of evaluation over the past 3 (three) years prior to layoff. This may be one element, but not the primary element used as proof of the superiority.
 - 3. In those cases when a department is not to be eliminated entirely, and the department or subfunction within a department has been able to maintain as full a range of services as possible.
 - *The University shall provide the UCPEA with a list of these units in September annually of each contract year.
- d. When a reorganization causes two or more positions to be combined and one or more components are to be eliminated, the least senior employee from those positions that have been combined shall be laid off if all employees are at the same level. If employees are not at the same level, the least senior employee shall be laid off provided the remaining employees are able to perform the remaining duties with reasonable orientation but not training.
- e. For the purpose of this article, seniority shall be calculated as years of service based on total state employment, with part-time employees receiving a prorated share of seniority.

- f. In the event that any part of this article comes before an arbitrator, it shall be understood that issues at an arbitration hearing may include failure to satisfy any of the above conditions, but not the initial decision of the University to retrench, or terminate a school, division, department or subdivision of a department, or program.
- g. Any employee who has been laid off shall be offered employment in the same or a similar position if such a position becomes available during the eighteen months from the date of the notice of layoff. Employees on the recall list must notify the University of their desire to remain on the recall list every 6 months. Failure to notify the University of continued interest shall result in the removal of the individual from the recall list. Employees on layoff shall receive notice of all UCPEA vacancies, and shall be granted an interview for all positions for which they meet the minimum qualifications. Employees offered reemployment by the University must accept such an offer within 15 days.
- h. When a program, department or subdivision of a department hires a laid-off employee into a position for which they would not otherwise be entitled to through recall, such employee shall be subject to a 6-month probationary period. If the employee is not retained beyond the probationary period, he/she shall be returned to the recall list in order to be on the recall list for a total of eighteen months.
- i. When a program, department or subdivision of a department is recalling laid-off employees, they shall be recalled in order of seniority except in those cases where they do not have the ability and qualifications to perform the work available.
- j. Notices of recall shall be sent, certified mail, to the last known address of the laid-off employee.
- k. In the event of layoff, members of the unit shall be provided the following notice period during which they will continue working:
 - 1. After 1 year of service: 3 months' notice
 - 2. After 2 years of service: 4 months' notice
 - 3. After 3 years of service: 5 months' notice
 - 4. After 4 years of service: 6 months' notice
 - 5. After 5 years of service: 7 months' notice
 - 6. After 6 years of service: 8 months' notice
 - 7. After 7 years of service: 9 months' notice
 - 8. After 8 years of service: 10 months' notice
 - 9. After 9 years of service: 11 months' notice
 - 10. After 10 years of service: 12 months' notice

In lieu of the notice period provided above or some portion thereof, the University and the employee may agree to a lump sum payment or salary continuation equal to 50% of the salary that the employee would have earned.

If the employee wishes to work the notice period, but the University has compelling business reasons to release him/her, the University has the discretion to issue payment of 50% of the salary that the employee would have earned, in lieu of notice.

- 1. For the purpose of notice only, service shall mean service at the University of Connecticut or one of its regional campuses, rather than at another state agency. For the purpose of this article leave without pay and military service does not count toward the calculation of years of service at the University.
- m. In the event of a layoff, the employee may purchase health benefits at the group rate for 18 months from the date of layoff, consistent with COBRA.
- n. The University shall continue to provide counseling and outplacement functions to all UCPEA employees affected by a layoff.
- o. In the event of fiscal constraints, in lieu of or in addition to layoffs, the University, in conjunction with the UCPEA, may solicit members of the bargaining unit to voluntarily separate from employment in exchange for a lump sum payment based upon the schedule in Section 27.1 (k). Such volunteers will be ineligible for the recall and reemployment rights provided in this Article. In its sole discretion, the University may deny such a request under this provision.

27.2

This section refers only to members of the unit funded from grants and contracts.

- a. In the event of exigencies, which require the layoff of staff funded from grants or contracts prior to the end date of the grant or contract, the principal investigator shall carry out layoffs as specified in Section 27.2 (b) below.
- b. In all cases requiring the termination of staff prior to the end date of the grant or contract, the primary goal of the employer shall be the maintenance of the purpose for which the grant was awarded. Among employees with equal qualifications and skills working under a grant, as this is determined by the principal investigator, layoffs shall be in reverse order of seniority at the University, with those having served least being laid off first.

27.3

All terminations after twelve months of service at the University, including all non-renewals, except those for cause, shall be eligible for the statewide placement and training program.

Article 28. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

28.1

In the event that the University is merged into or with any other unit or system of public higher education, this bargaining unit shall remain distinct and this Agreement in full force.

Article 29. MEET AND DISCUSS

29.1

At the invitation of either party, representatives of the Administration and UCPEA shall meet to discuss matters of professional concern, including hiring practices of a professional nature, e.g. special payroll, or matters relating to the implementation of this agreement. There shall be a Labor Management Committee, which will meet quarterly, or more often to discuss these matters.

29.2

Nothing in this article curbs the right of the Administration to meet with committees or individual professional staff members to discuss such matters unrelated to collective bargaining as the Administration decides.

29.3

UCPEA members will have a structured opportunity to provide anonymous feedback about their managers when a formal evaluation occurs.

29.4

A Master Labor Management Committee shall be established to discuss joint labor management concerns and to oversee the joint labor management committees referred to in the contract and/or jointly established by UCPEA and Management. The committee will include six members appointed by the President or his/her designee and six appointed by the UCPEA President. The committee shall meet quarterly. Decisions of the committee may be subject to approval of the President and the UCPEA Executive Board.

Article 30.

PARKING

30.1

The Union shall be entitled to one representative and one alternate on the University Parking Advisory Committee.

30.2

The University shall give advance notice to employees in the event of parking dislocation, except dislocations due to an emergency.

30.3

The distribution of parking permits shall continue in accordance with the procedures as determined by the Parking Advisory Committee.

30.4

The University's Parking Advisory Committee will develop recommendations for distribution of parking spaces.

30.5 Parking at the Regional Campuses and Law School

The University will make parking available at a uniform parking rate to all UCPEA employees on all campuses that is the same as the "Area 2" rate charged at the Storrs campus.

UCPEA employees will be required to secure an Area 2 parking permit and will be charged the same sliding scale fee that exists for Storrs-based employees.

There will be no Area 3 parking at the Regional Campuses or the Law School.

If an employee does not wish to use campus parking, they will not be required to purchase a permit.

In lieu of a designated free parking area at campus locations other than Storrs, UCPEA members whose salary rate qualifies them for a 50% reduction of the Area 2 rate will have their Area 2 parking fee waived.

University parking permits will be honored at all campus locations.

Article 31. JOB CLASSIFICATION

31.1 Classification System

- a. Nothing in this Article will diminish the Board's prerogatives described in Article 3, including, but not limited to, the power to determine for the University what jobs are needed, what the content of a job description should be, or how a particular job should be structured.
- b. The University will develop, in consultation with the UCPEA, an updated Classification System and Salary Schedule. The University will have at least monthly meetings with the

UCPEA for this purpose. The updated Classification System will incorporate the following design criteria:

- 1. Seven (7) to nine (9) classification levels and corresponding pay-bands;
- 2. Four (4) to seven (7) classification levels designated as "Individual Contributors" and two (2) to three (3) levels designated as "Managers/Specialized Lead Contributors";
- 3. Updated job specifications and titles grouped into appropriate job series and families that will replace the existing UCP job specifications and payroll titles;
- 4. Pay-bands that are market-informed and include coherent ranges between the minimums and maximums, as well as between mid-points;
- 5. Maximum salaries for each pay-band; and
- 6. Pay-bands that are adjusted at least by the amount of the across-the-board increase each fiscal year.
- c. The University, in consultation with the UCPEA, will adopt the updated Classification system in accordance with the design criteria stated above on or before January 2, 2017.
- d. The University, in consultation with the UCPEA, will develop a procedure and timeline for transitioning existing employees into the updated Classification System and Salary Schedule on or before July 1, 2017.
- e. A description of the Job Classification System shall be available to all employees through the Human Resources Web Page.

31.2 Career Progression

On or before July 1, 2018, the University, in consultation with the UCPEA, will develop a process by which managers can nominate employees for within-level progression, due to increased job proficiency and/or relevant professional development.

The progression will include three (3) ranks: proficient, advanced and mastery. Employees are hired at the proficient rank. The salary increase for progression from proficient to advanced is \$1,000. The salary increase for progression from advanced to mastery is \$1,500. These salary increases are independent of any merit awards that may be made through Article 32, Salary. Salary increases for progression will be subject to fiscal constraints, and resulting salaries will not exceed the pay-band maximum. Any denial of a request for a progression in rank shall be accompanied by a written reason for the denial. Denials shall not be arbitrary or capricious. Decisions about progression shall be final and not subject to appeal.

31.3 Reclassification Process

a. DEFINITION: A position assessment to determine whether an employee's position is appropriately classified may be requested when:

In the opinion of the employee and his/her supervisor, a majority of the job duties and responsibilities have changed to such a degree that the existing classification does not appropriately describe the work that is being done.

The method of classification analysis shall be a position assessment performed by the Department of Human Resources. It is at the University's discretion to determine the methodology for collecting position information and the protocol by which the assessment is performed.

b. No position assessment request will be considered unless the employee has been consistently performing changed duties for at least two months. An employee may not request a position assessment during his or her first year in the current position or within a year of reclassification.

When an employee identifies significant changes in his/her job duties and responsibilities, he/she shall meet with his/her supervisor and request that the position be submitted for a position assessment. If the supervisor agrees with the request, within two weeks of the initial meeting, the supervisor shall send a written request to Human Resources asking for a position assessment to be performed. If the supervisor disagrees with the request, within two weeks of the initial meeting, the supervisor will notify the employee in writing, with a copy to Human Resources. In this case, the employee may request through the UCPEA an independent review by Human Resources. This does not preclude the initiation of a position assessment requested by a supervisor or manager without an initial request from an employee, nor does it preclude the removal of duties at any point after a classification specialist determines the changes in duties are at a higher level.

- c. Human Resources shall acknowledge the request for a position assessment and forward a link to the job inventory form within one week. The job inventory form will be completed by the employee within 6 weeks of receipt. The job inventory form will then be reviewed and receipt acknowledged by the supervisory chain within 4 weeks of receipt from the employee, and returned to Human Resources. The supervisor's acknowledgement shall represent only an awareness that Human Resources is conducting an objective review of the position for the purposes of establishing the appropriate classification.
- d. Following receipt of the completed job inventory form, Human Resources will complete the position assessment and provide the employee, the UCPEA, and the supervisor a written summary of the results within 12 weeks.
- e. If the assessment process reveals that a different organizational level and/or job family is appropriate, and the employee meets the minimum requirements for a specific position description within that level or family, the first manager outside the bargaining unit shall authorize the change, or remove those duties identified within the assessment as being outside the classification. The effective date of reclassification shall be 60 days prior to the date the job inventory form was received in Human Resources. In instances where the duties identified as outside the classification are removed, the employee shall be compensated pursuant to Section 31.4, retroactive 60 days prior to the date the job

inventory form was received in Human Resources through the date the higher-level duties are removed.

- f. If the assessment process reveals that the employee's duties are not appropriately classified, and no specific position description within that level and/or job family exists, the Department of Human Resources shall consider the development of a new job family or modification to an existing one.
- g. The decision of the Department of Human Resources shall be final and not subject to appeal. An employee whose reclassification request is denied may request a meeting with the Human Resources Associate who made the assessment and the Director of Human Resources, or designee, to review the reason for the denial and possibly present new evidence.
- h. All time limits in this Section may be extended by mutual agreement between the UCPEA and the University.

31.4 Reclassification Salary Increases

If the position assessment results in an employee's position being reclassified to a higher level, the employee's salary may be increased by up to 10% of his/her salary on the effective date of the reclassification. The salary increase shall not be more than the maximum of the pay-band into which the employee is reclassified. Otherwise, the salary increase shall not be less than 2% of the employee's salary on the effective date of the reclassification, or the minimum of the pay-band into which the employee is reclassified, whichever is greater.

31.5 Temporary Appointments

It is within the University's discretion to appoint employees to temporary positions or temporarily assign them additional duties to cover for someone on a leave of absence, to address departmental reorganizations, to fill a need while a full recruitment effort is underway, or for other reasons the University deems appropriate. The University will make every effort to limit temporary appointments to no more than 18 months but reserves the right to exceed 18 months with approval from the Department of Human Resources for extenuating circumstances.

An employee may be compensated for a temporary appointment by up to 10% of the employee's salary on the effective date of the temporary appointment.

Article 32.

SALARY

32.1 Salary Increases

Part-time employees shall receive pro-rated salary adjustments and fringe benefits.

- a. Effective July 1, 2016, a 2.00% increase shall be added to the June 30, 2016 base annual salary of each bargaining unit member who performed satisfactorily*, and was a member of the bargaining unit as of January 1, 2016.
- b. Effective July 1, 2017, a 1.0% increase shall be added to the June 30, 2017 base annual salary of each bargaining unit member who performed satisfactorily*, and was a member of the bargaining unit as of January 1, 2017.
- c. Effective July 1, 2018, a 1.0% increase shall be added to the June 30, 2018 base annual salary of each bargaining unit member who performed satisfactorily*, and was a member of the bargaining unit as of January 1, 2018.
- d. Effective July 1, 2019, a 1.0% increase shall be added to the June 30, 2019 base annual salary of each bargaining unit member who performed satisfactorily*, and was a member of the bargaining unit as of January 1, 2019.
- e. Effective July 1, 2020, a 1.0% increase shall be added to the June 30, 2020 base annual salary of each bargaining unit member who performed satisfactorily*, and was a member of the bargaining unit as of January 1, 2020.

32.2 Performance-Based Compensation

Performance-based compensation is an increase to be added to the employee's base salary. For the life of the agreement neither the amount of performance-based compensation nor the failure to receive performance-based compensation shall be grievable or arbitrable. Employees who serve less than six (6) months in a probationary period, within the evaluation year, will be eligible for a pro rata amount of performance-based compensation.

- a. Effective July 1, 2016 and each July 1 for the duration of this agreement, the University shall distribute the equivalent of 0.5% of the gross salary account to be issued as performance-based compensation to the UCPEA bargaining unit members.
- b. The University performance-based compensation pool provided in this section is intended to reward those individuals who have sustained a level of performance that consistently exceeds the performance of their peers during the evaluation period, and that have advanced the mission and goals of the Department and the University. The immediate supervisor, regardless of bargaining unit or exempt status, shall make recommendations about performance-based compensation, but the final amounts will be determined by the

^{*}Satisfactorily shall be defined as having not received an overall unsatisfactory evaluation.

Vice President or Vice Provost. The supervisor may only recommend employees for University performance-based compensation who receive a "Good" evaluation or higher.

- c. The percentage pool identified above shall be established on a per capita basis at the level of the Vice President or Vice Provost based on the bargaining unit membership as of March 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the distribution.
- d. The University, in consultation with the UCPEA, will develop and deliver supervisory training for performance evaluation and performance management. The performance evaluation process provided in Article 21 of this agreement will be covered in this training.

32.3 One-Time Performance Awards

One-time performance awards are single lump-sum payments that are not added to an employee's base salary. For the life of the agreement neither the amount of a one-time performance award nor shall the failure to receive it be grievable or arbitrable.

- a. Effective July 1, 2016 and each July 1 for the duration of this agreement, the University shall distribute the equivalent of 0.5% of the gross salary account to be available for one-time performance awards. The pool distributed by the University must be allocated in awards between \$1,000 and \$5,000. A Department/Unit may recommend the use of additional Departmental funding for additional awards in the same range at its discretion, subject to the approval of the appropriate Vice President or Provost.
- b. The immediate supervisor, regardless of bargaining unit or exempt status, shall make recommendations for performance award distribution, but the final awards will be determined by the Vice President or Provost. The supervisor may only recommend employees for one-time performance awards who receive a "Good" evaluation or higher.
- c. One-time performance awards are made at the discretion of the University. The supervisor shall consider the following types of accomplishments within the evaluation year in recommending an employee for such award: 1) Extraordinary job-related achievement, and/or 2) Completion of a specific and important Departmental or University goal or project.
- d. The percentage pool identified above shall be established on a per capita basis at the level of the Vice President or Provost based on the bargaining unit membership as of March 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the distribution.
- e. Decisions regarding one-time performance awards shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

32.4 Salary Schedules

The attached salary schedules shall be in effect the first full pay period after July 1, 2016, until the New Classification System and associated salary schedule is finalized and implemented, or the end of this contract, whichever is sooner. Neither the salary offered for a particular job nor

assignment of a job series to a salary group are grievable under the contractual or the non-contractual grievance procedure.

- a. No employee shall be hired or be employed at less than the minimum salary for the UCPEA level. An employee will be hired into the minimum salary, unless it is deemed that his or her qualifications warrant an increased offer. The hiring range shall be defined as any amount between the minimum and defined maximum for each UCPEA level. In determining the amount, consideration shall be given to qualifications, experience and market issues.
- b. No employee shall be employed at an amount higher than the maximum salary for the UCPEA level. If, at the time University performance-based compensation is being issued, an employee has reached the maximum amount, he or she will not be eligible for University performance-based compensation as described herein. An employee at the maximum salary for his or her level will still be eligible for a one-time performance award and for the across-the-board salary increase.
 - Until the New Classification System and associated salary schedule is finalized and implemented, or the end of this contract, whichever is sooner, an employee who has reached the maximum and receives a recommendation for a performance based compensation increase that is approved by the Vice President or Provost shall have that amount converted to a lump sum payment that will not be added to the base salary.
- c. When presented with evidence that a member is considering leaving the employment of the University, the University will consult with the UCPEA, and with mutual agreement may act immediately to make an upward adjustment in salary in an effort to retain said employee. Such adjustments shall be considered exempted from any equity analysis review.

UCPEA Salary Schedules

Effective July 1, 2016

LEVEL	MINIMUM	MIDPOINT	MAXIMUM
UCP I	\$39,544	\$53,187	\$66,542
UCP II	\$40,793	\$54,873	\$68,950
UCP III	\$42,278	\$56,877	\$71,477
UCP IV	\$43,938	\$59,114	\$74,291
UCP V	\$46,993	\$63,242	\$79,489
UCP VI	\$51,551	\$69,400	\$87,240
UCP VII	\$56,580	\$76,186	\$95,791
UCP VIII	\$61,790	\$83,218	\$104,646
UCP IX	\$67,073	\$90,354	\$113,626
UCP X	\$72,943	\$98,276	\$123,612
UCP XI	\$79,409	\$106,999	\$134,597
UCP XII	\$88,815	\$119,679	\$150,559

NOTE: Arrived at by adding 2.00% to the July 1, 2015 schedule.

Effective July 1, 2017

LEVEL	MINIMUM	MIDPOINT	MAXIMUM
UCP I	\$40,928	\$55,049	\$68,871
UCP II	\$42,221	\$56,794	\$71,363
UCP III	\$43,758	\$58,868	\$73,979
UCP IV	\$45,476	\$61,183	\$76,891
UCP V	\$48,638	\$65,455	\$82,271
UCP VI	\$53,355	\$71,829	\$90,293
UCP VII	\$58,560	\$78,853	\$99,144
UCP VIII	\$63,953	\$86,131	\$108,309
UCP IX	\$69,421	\$93,517	\$117,603
UCP X	\$75,496	\$101,716	\$127,938
UCP XI	\$82,188	\$110,744	\$139,308
UCP XII	\$91,924	\$123,868	\$155,829

NOTE: Arrived at by adding 3.5% to the July 1, 2016 schedule.

32.5 Longevity

Employees in the bargaining unit shall be eligible for longevity increments pursuant to the 2011 SEBAC agreement, which provides:

- a. No employee first hired on or after July 1, 2011 shall be entitled to a longevity payment; provided, however, any individual hired on or after said date who shall have military service that would count toward longevity under the current rules shall be entitled to longevity if they obtain the requisite service in the future.
- b. Employees Hired Before July 2, 2011: No service shall count toward longevity for the two (2) year period beginning July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2013. Effective July 1, 2013, any service accrued during that period shall be added to their service for the purpose of determining their eligibility and level of longevity entitlement if it would have counted when performed.

32.6 Prorating of Salary and Benefits for Nine and Ten Month Employees

- a. All 9 or 10 month UCPEA employees shall be paid over 12 months, whether in permanent or end-dated assignments. Benefits shall be prorated in accordance with the contract.
- b. There is no option for any 9 or 10-month employee to be paid in any other time frame than the 12-month period.

32.7 Reopener

The parties agree to reopen the agreement not earlier than September 1, 2018 solely for the purpose of determining salary increases and performance based compensation and award allocations for FY 2020 and FY 2021. The parties agree that the increase for across-the-board satisfactory performance (inclusive of any flat amount) shall not be less than 1.0% and the performance based compensation and awards shall not be less than 1.0% total for each remaining year of the contract.

Article 33.

RETIREMENT, MEDICAL BENEFITS AND DISABILITY INSURANCE

33.1

All retirement benefits now in effect shall remain in effect until and unless they are superseded by arrangements between the State of Connecticut and the State Employee Bargaining Agent Coalition.

33.2

The health insurance program, in effect as of the signing of this agreement, shall remain in effect. Group life insurance shall be available to bargaining unit members at the same rate and coverage limits as provided to non-bargaining unit state employees as described in C.G.S. 5-257.

Additional benefits negotiated by the State of Connecticut and the Health Care Cost Containment Committee shall be extended to members.

33.3

In addition to the disability insurance available to all employees, the University shall provide, at no cost to the employee, a long-term disability policy for those employees who participate in the Alternative Retirement Program. The plan shall be equivalent to that offered other University employees in 1996 and thereafter, but in no case less than the benefits offered in 1996.

Article 34.

TUITION REIMBURSEMENT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

34.1

a. Effective July 1, 2016 the amount available per contract year for professional development and training shall be \$400,000. Ten percent of the professional development pool may be utilized for University sponsored programs open to and accessible by all UCPEA members. The University's designee shall consult and review with UCPEA's Vice President for Professional Issues concerning University sponsored programs.

The employee shall submit a written request for funding of reimbursement to attend or participate in professional development and training in accordance with the guidelines established by the UCPEA Professional Development Committee and approved by the University administration.

b. Under guidelines established jointly by the Administration and the UCPEA, reimbursements for tuition and fees will be made to the individual after successful completion of their coursework.

Effective July 1, 2016, and in each subsequent year of the agreement, \$25,000 shall be available per contract year for reimbursement of tuition and fees for courses taken by employees. This amount shall be allocated in three equal installments over the spring, fall and summer semesters.

Effective July 1, 2016, and in each subsequent year of the agreement, \$25,000 shall be available per contract year for reimbursement of fees for courses taken by employees at the University of Connecticut. This amount shall be allocated in three equal installments over the spring, fall and summer semesters.

Employees taking courses at the University of Connecticut may defer payment of 50% of their tuition of fee rate until one month after completion of the course.

34.2

No more than one-half of the professional development fund may be allotted during the first six months of each contract year. The negotiated tuition reimbursement pool will be divided equally among the summer, fall and spring semesters of each contract year.

34.3

When management requires the employee to obtain work related training, it shall be paid for by the University.

34.4

Employees who wish to take credit courses shall be allowed to request temporary flexible schedules to take such courses. The University shall attempt to accommodate requests within its operating needs. Denials shall be given to employees within 5 workdays of the request, and shall not be arbitrary or capricious or without a good business reason. There shall be a form for employees who wish to take credit courses with a temporary flexible schedule.

Article 35. TUITION WAIVERS

35.1 Employee

The University shall provide a waiver of tuition and a partial waiver of credit fees equivalent to tuition for all undergraduate and graduate courses on a space available basis. The availability of space shall be determined on the first day of class for tuition based classes. For classes paid for on a credit fee basis, space availability shall be determined on the second day of classes. Intercession, summer school, and laboratory classes are specifically excluded. To qualify for a graduate waiver the UCPEA member must either be a matriculated student or the class must be work related. There shall be no waiver of the General University Fee or any other fees except as noted above.

35.2 Children

In addition to the waiver of tuition permitted under C.G.S. Chapter 165, Section 10a-99 (b, c, and d), the Board of Trustees shall have full authority to waive tuition for dependent children of bargaining unit members matriculating in an undergraduate degree program at the University of Connecticut or its regional campuses.

Article 36.

CHILD CARE

36.1

Effective July 1, 2016, and each subsequent year of the agreement, \$100,000 shall be available annually for partial reimbursement to employees for childcare expenses at licensed child care facilities.

36.2

Reimbursement shall be made in accordance with procedures, policies and requirements, as established by the UCPEA, which conform to state regulations.

Article 37.

TRAVEL

37.1

Within the funds available, the Board of Trustees shall have full authority to allocate funds to travel and to authorize the expenditures of such funds for out-of-state travel under the authority of the Provost, Vice President or their designees.

37.2

Mileage reimbursement schedules shall be adjusted annually in accordance with federal guidelines.

Article 38.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

38.1 Committee on Safety

The Environmental Health and Safety Committee shall continue to review and, if necessary, make recommendations on environmental and health issues. The UCPEA shall continue to have a representative on this committee.

38.2

Whenever possible, employees will be notified in advance that the building they are working in will be undergoing repairs, major renovations, or that a parking lot is permanently closing.

38.3

The University's Environmental Health and Safety policy, effective on July 1, 1994, is hereby incorporated into the contract. Updated policies are incorporated as replacements for the 1994 document.

38.4

The University shall provide personal, protective equipment to employees as required by OSHA regulations.

Article 39. CONSULTING POLICY

39.1 Unrelated outside employment

Bargaining unit members will not be required to notify management of their intention to work outside of work hours if the employment is unrelated to their professional responsibilities at the University, since this type of employment is not considered consulting.

39.2 Notice of intent to accept related employment

When bargaining unit members intend to accept work outside the University, which is related to their professional employment at the University, they will notify their supervisor of their intent. Written notice to their supervisor shall include a statement that the work will occur outside of all work hours and obligations to the University. Employees shall not be allowed to take on work outside of their primary employment, which interferes with their responsibilities at the University. Within 30 days of receipt of a notice from an employee, the University may issue a directive to the employee not to accept outside employment if management believes it interferes with their responsibilities at the University. A University directive to an employee not to accept outside employment shall be grievable under the non-contractual grievance process. If the University fails to meet the timelines contained within the non-contractual grievance process, the issue may be appealed directly to arbitration by the UCPEA. This notice replaces the obligation to request permission to accept outside employment.

39.3 State Ethics Code

Employees are subject to the state ethics code and should take note of those requirements.

Article 40. UNION LEAVE

40.1 Release Time for Union Business

The University shall grant release time up to a total of 100 days per contract year to bargaining agent representatives designated by the Union. Unused days shall not accrue from one year of the contract to the next.

a. The Union shall provide the Associate Vice President for Human Resources with the names of the individuals so designated.

- b. Release time shall be utilized in a manner that is least disruptive of the individual's professional responsibilities and University operations.
- c. The Union shall notify Labor Relations at least one week in advance of the need for release time except in extraordinary circumstances when notice shall be as soon as possible or as soon as possible after the fact.

40.2 Attendance at Conventions

During a contract year, up to three (3) UCPEA delegates shall be permitted three (3) days each to attend state and/or national conventions of the AFT and the AFL-CIO. Such requests shall be presented by the Union. Before being granted, requests for such leave must be approved by the first supervisory level outside the bargaining unit, as well as by the appropriate University official designated for this purpose. If granted, paid leave shall be provided.

40.3 Internal Training for Union Representatives

The University shall allow for up to one day or two half-day sessions annually of training during which all of the Union Representatives will be permitted to attend without use of the specific days enumerated in Section 40.1. Such day(s) of training will be scheduled not later than 30 days in advance, and the UCPEA shall notify the Office of Faculty & Staff Labor Relations.

Article 41. REPRESENTATION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

41.1 Protection from Discrimination

- a. No union officer, committee member or representative shall be discriminated against for membership in the Union or for performing Union business.
- b. The Union shall not discriminate against any employee.

41.2 Union List of Officers and Representatives

The union shall furnish to the Administration a written list of all officers and area representatives. Any changes thereto shall be furnished to the Administration.

41.3 Conducting Union Business on University Premises

- a. Union representatives may visit Union officers during the workday with the permission of the appropriate department heads. It is understood that any time lost from the workday shall be made up at a time mutually agreeable to the parties.
- b. No recruiting of membership or collecting of dues shall be conducted during the normal work hours.
- c. Any Union officer or representative who wishes to visit with an employee at the employee's place of employment shall secure the permission from the appropriate first

- supervisor level outside the unit or the department head as designated by such supervisory level. When practicable, such visits shall take place during lunchtime or when the employee is otherwise free from duty assignments.
- d. If the Administration sets a grievance hearing during normal work hours, employees who are required to attend such a hearing shall be released and not be required to make up any time.

41.4 Bulletin Boards

Department heads shall provide designated bulletin board space throughout the campus for the exclusive use of the Union.

41.5 Access to Information

- a. The Union shall have access to information relative to budget and staffing as they pertain to the bargaining unit. It shall also be provided with the names, addresses and salaries of all bargaining unit employees.
 - The Administration shall provide the Union with the agenda and minutes of all open meetings of the Board of Trustees. The Union agrees to pay the Library rate (currently \$.10 per copy) for duplicated employment authorizations.
- b. The Union shall provide to the Administration an agenda and minutes of all open meetings of the Union.
- c. The parties agree that by September 1 of each year of the contract the University shall place in the reserve room in the Library a listing of salaries of all University employees.

41.6 Mailroom

The UCPEA may use the University mail service under the current policy of registered organizations. Specifically, this means that the Union shall pay the regular rate, understands that its materials may not interfere with other official University obligations, and that such materials shall be accompanied by a statement that they are not official publications of the University and are published at Union expense.

41.7 Service Contribution

Participation in those UCPEA activities that directly relate to the well-being of the University by eight (8) designated officers of the UCPEA may be considered a University service contribution.

41.8 Union Access

The University shall provide electronically all data requested to the UCPEA1 computer account and shall continue to provide a hard copy of the employment authorizations as long as they exist.

The parties shall cooperate, as technology develops, to provide for the exchange of data. An UCPEA representative shall be appointed to identify union data extraction needs.

The UCPEA representative shall either use their own time for these meetings or be given UCPEA release time for this purpose.

Unless there is a statutory or technical limitation, the UCPEA shall be given electronic access to UCPEA membership data, with a charge for same. If details can be resolved satisfactorily, technically, and legally, the UCPEA shall be provided access to electronic bulletin boards within the Computer Center. The use of E-mail and voice communications for union business shall be allowed so long as it does not disrupt work responsibilities.

Article 42. UCPEA SECURITY AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

42.1

During the life of this Agreement, a member of the bargaining unit shall retain the freedom to decide whether or not to become or remain a member of the UCPEA. A member of the bargaining unit who is not a member of the UCPEA shall be required to pay an agency fee pursuant to Section 5-280 of the General Statutes.

42.2

- a. The University shall deduct UCPEA dues or agency fee bi-weekly from the gross paycheck of each person who is required under Section 5-280 of the General Statutes to pay such a fee as a condition of employment.
- b. The University shall deduct contributions bi-weekly, in the amount specified from the gross paycheck of each person in the unit who authorizes it, payments to fund-raising drives sponsored by the University of Connecticut Foundation.
- c. The University shall deduct contributions bi-weekly, in the amount specified from the gross paycheck of each person in the unit who authorizes it, payments to the Union's COPE (Committee on Political Education) fund.

42.3

The amount of dues or agency service fee deducted under this article shall be remitted to the Treasurer of the UCPEA as soon as practicable after the pay period of the employees for whom such deduction is made.

42.4

No payroll deduction of dues or agency service fee shall be made during a payroll period in which earnings are insufficient to cover the amount of deduction, nor shall such be made from subsequent payrolls to cover the period in question. The UCPEA shall be notified when such a situation exists.

42.5

The University shall continue its practice of payroll deductions as authorized by employees for purposes other than payment of Union dues or agency service fee, provided any such payroll deduction has been approved by the State in advance.

42.6

With the exception of Section 42.2 (a), the UCPEA shall hold the University harmless from any liability or damages incurred by the Board of Trustees or its agents in complying with this Article and will reimburse the University for legal expenses incurred in legal defense of any provision of this Article or any action taken by the University in complying with it.

Article 43. SAVINGS CLAUSE

43.1

If any provision of this agreement is, or shall at any time be, contrary to law, then such provision shall not be applicable or performed or enforced, except to the extent permitted by law. Any substitute action shall be subject to appropriate consultation and negotiation with the UCPEA.

43.2

In the event that any provision of this agreement is, or shall at any time be, contrary to law, all other provisions of this agreement shall continue in effect.

Article 44. TEMPORARY AND END-DATE EMPLOYEES.

44.1

The use of temporary and end-dated appointments shall be limited to the following circumstances:

- a. Employees who are funded by grants and contracts.
- b. Employees who are hired to cover positions undergoing job searches.
- c. Employees hired to cover for a temporary leave of absence.
- d. Employees hired for clearly defined and time limited special projects.
- e. Employees hired to cover for an employee who is serving in a temporary or interim assignment.
- f. Employees hired to cover duties during a departmental reorganization or restructuring.

End-dated appointments not funded by a grant or contract shall be limited to a maximum of three years unless the UCPEA agrees in writing to an extension.

All employees hired on end-date employment authorizations who have been on the end-date appointment for a period of more than 3 years, must have their re-appointment processed 3 months prior to the end of his/her appointment.

All end-date employees who have been on end-date appointment for a period of more than 5 consecutive years shall be given a minimum of 3 months' notice of non-renewal, in addition to the annual appointment letter. Individuals with five annual appointments shall be eligible for multiple year appointments.

All end-date employees who have been on end-date appointment for a period of more than 4 years and are non-renewed shall be offered employment in the same or a similar position if such a position becomes available during the eighteen months from the date of notice of non-renewal. Employees on the recall list must notify the University every 6 months of their desire to remain on the recall list. Failure to notify the University continued interest shall result in the removal of the individual from the recall list. These employees shall receive notice of all UCPEA vacancies, and shall be granted an interview for all positions for which they meet the minimum qualifications. Employees offered reemployment by the University must accept such an offer within 15 days.

44.2

While end-date employees do not have permanent status, they are entitled to just cause protection for discipline after one year of employment.

Article 45. PAY EQUITY

45.1

If coalition bargaining regarding pay equity takes place for state employees, the University agrees to participate in the coalition for the exclusive purpose of determining the pay line, implementation of pay line, and/or the distribution of funds. The University shall not participate in any bargaining as part of a coalition that concerns its classification system.

45.2

The UCPEA agrees that implementation of any coalition bargaining is contingent on the University receiving new monies from the State of Connecticut specifically for that purpose.

Article 46. WIRELESS COMMUNICATION DEVICE STIPENDS

46.1

At the discretion of the University, a professional employee who is required to utilize a wireless communication device to perform his/her official duties may receive compensation in the form of a stipend to cover business-related use of the personally owned mobile device. Use of the device, including the eligibility for and the amount of the stipend, shall be determined in accordance with University policy as it may be amended from time to time.

Article 47. PHASED RETIREMENT PROGRAM

47.1 Phased Retirement Program

With the approval of the Provost, appropriate Vice President, or designee, a Department may offer eligible professional staff an opportunity for a pre-retirement reduction of full-time service, while gradually phasing into retirement over a defined period, not to exceed three years. A professional staff member's eligibility to participate in the program is within the discretion of the Department. A Phased Retirement Program may also be offered on a University-wide basis.

47.2 Eligibility

Professional staff that are eligible and elect to participate must provide an irrevocable retirement date of no more than 3 years in the future. The date selected is subject to written approval by the Department Head.

47.3 Reduction in Workload

During the notice period, the employee will receive a reduction in schedule and workload of 50% and proportionate reduction in salary under the Voluntary Schedule Reduction Program (VSRP). The reduction in schedule may be in the form of working fewer hours per day, working fewer days per week or block leaves in which the employee takes more than 5 consecutive days off at a time. The way in which the reduction of hours is taken will be developed in conjunction with the Department Head and at the Department Head's discretion.

47.4 Notice Period Benefits

During the notice period, as provided in Connecticut General Statute § 5-248c and the associated Regulations, the employee will continue to receive subsidized health and life insurance; receive full credit toward seniority, longevity and retirement; have their salary calculations used in the SERS pension formula adjusted to treat unpaid time as paid; accrue vacation (if applicable), and receive full holiday pay.

47.5 Requirements for Employees

The Application for Phased Retirement and VSRP form must be submitted to the Department Head. If approved, this will initiate the development of a written agreement that sets forth mutually agreeable terms and conditions.

47.6 Reservation of Rights

The Department Head reserves the right to deny an employee's request for participation in the Phased Retirement Program, but such denial must be with the agreement of the Vice Provost, Executive Vice President or designee.

47.7 Reduction to Written Agreement

A written agreement setting forth mutually agreeable terms and conditions of an individual's phased retirement arrangement will be signed by the participant and the Department Head, and must be authorized by the relevant Vice Provost, Executive Vice President or designee. It will provide the essential terms and conditions of the reduced appointment including salary, anticipated hours and/or days or work, and an irrevocable retirement date.

Article 48. **ZIPPER CLAUSE**

48.1

This agreement constitutes the complete and entire agreement between the parties and concludes collective bargaining for its term. Therefore, unless the parties mutually agree to reopen negotiations, the UCPEA waives the right to bargain collectively with respect to any subject not covered in this agreement, even though such subjects may not have been contemplated by the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this agreement.

Article 49. **DURATION**

49.1

This agreement shall be in full force and effect from July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2021.

Article 50. **LEGISLATIVE ACTION**

This Agreement shall require legislative approval in accordance with Section 5-278 of the General Statutes in order to become effective. For future successor agreements, the cost items contained in such agreements and any provisions that are in conflict with any statute or any regulation of any state agency shall become effective in accordance with the procedures in Section 5-278. If the Legislature rejects this Agreement, or any such successor agreement, the parties shall return to the bargaining table.

Article 51. SIGN OFF

For: The University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association	For: The Board of Trustees, The University of Connecticut		
Kathleen M. Sanner, President	Susan Herbst, President		
Lisa Pane, First Vice President for Collective Bargaining			

UCPEA Negotiating Team

Lisa Pane, Facilitator for the UCPEA Kathleen M. Sanner, President Michelle Hoff David Paquette Elizabeth Sullivan

UConn Negotiating Team

Michael J. Eagen, Facilitator for UConn Renee Boggis Amy K. Donahue Keith A. Hood Jessa Y. Mirtle Katrina M. Spencer

INDEX

Title	Article
Access to Information.	41.5, 41.8
Accumulated Sick Leave	11.3
Arbitration	23.5, 23.6
Benefits	33
Board Prerogatives	3
Career Ladders	25
Career Progression	31
Child Care	36
Civic Emergencies.	10.2
Committee on Safety.	38.1
Compensatory Time	18
Consulting	
Disciplinary Action.	22
Dismissal	
Duration of Contract.	
Educational Leave Application Procedure	13.2
Educational Leave	
Employee Files.	19
Essential/Emergency Staff Compensatory Time	
Evaluation	
Fitness for Duty Evaluations	
Flexible Work Schedules	
Grievance Procedure	23
Health & Safety	38
Holidays	
Job Classification.	31
Jury Duty	10.1
Leaves, Without Pay	
Legislative Action.	
Longevity	
Management Exclusions	
Maternity and Parental Benefits	
Meet & Discuss	
Mergers & Acquisitions	28
Non-contractual Grievance, Procedure	
Nondiscrimination	
Notice of Intent to Leave	
Notification of Negative Materials in File	
No Work Stoppage	
On Call.	
One-time Performance Awards	

Parking	30
Part-time Salary/Benefits	32.1
Pay Equity	45
Payroll Deductions	42
Performance-Based Compensation	32.2
Personal Leave	9
Phased Retirement Program	47
Probationary Employees	
Professional Development Funds	34
Professional Freedom	
Prorating of Salary and Benefits for Nine and Ten Month Employees	32.5
Reclassification	
Recognition	1
Reduction of Staff	27
Regional Campuses, Parking	30.5
Representation Rights	
Retirement	
Role of Professional Staff	2
Salary Increases	32.1
Salary Schedules	32.4
Savings Clause	
Seniority	27.1
Sick Leave	11
Sick Leave Bank	11.3
Status While on Paid Leave	14
Status While on Unpaid Leave	15.4
Student Health Services	17
Telecommuting	16.4
Temporary and End-Date Employees	44
Temporary Positions	31.5
Travel	37
Tuition Reimbursement	34
Tuition Waivers	35
Union Access	41.8
Union Leave With Pay	40
Union Leave Without Pay	15.1
Vacancies, Job Posting	26
Vacation	6
Voluntary Leave Program	
Wireless Communication Device Stipends	
Workers' Compensation	
Work Schedules	
Zipper Clause	48

ATTACHMENT 5



January 27, 2016

TO:

Members of the Board of Trustees

FROM:

Scott A. Jordan S.M).

Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer

Mun Y. Choi

Provost and Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs

RE:

Project Budget for Residential Life Facilities West Campus Shower Renovations

(Final: \$1,920,000)

RECOMMENDATION:

That the Board of Trustees approve the Final Budget of \$1,920,000 for the Residential Life Facilities West Campus Shower Renovations project for construction.

BACKGROUND:

The original West Campus (1955) gang showers and bathrooms are inadequate for today's student needs. This renovation will take a student room off line from each floor and create a shower room that will connect to the existing bathroom. The existing bathrooms will be modernized by removing all hazardous materials including existing asbestos floor tiles, new LED lighting fixtures, new plumbing fixtures, new finishes, new toilet stalls, new accessories and a new exhaust system.

The Residential Life Facilities West Campus Shower Renovations project began planning and design in August 2015. The project is expected to bid in February 2016. On-site construction will be from May 2016 to August 2016.

The Final Budget is based on an independent third-party cost estimator.

The University requests a waiver of the three stage budget approval process in order to allow construction to proceed after bids have been received and evaluated for conformance with the project scope and budget.

The Final Budget is attached for your consideration and approval.

Office of the Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer 352 MANSFIELD ROAD, UNIT 1122 **GULLEY HALL** STORRS, CT 06269-1122 PHONE 860.486.3455 FAX 860,486,1070

CAPITAL PROJECT BUDGET REPORTING FORM

TYPE BUDGET: FINAL

PROJECT NAME: RESIDENTIAL LIFE FACILITIES - WEST CAMPUS SHOWER RENOVATIONS

BUDGETED EXPENDITURES	APPROVED NNING/DESIGN 9/29/2015 SARCC	 PROPOSED FINAL 1/21/2016
CONSTRUCTION DESIGN SERVICES TELECOMMUNICATIONS FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION OTHER AE SERVICES (including Project Management) ART RELOCATION ENVIRONMENTAL INSURANCE AND LEGAL MISCELLANEOUS OTHER SOFT COSTS	\$ 127,900 - - - - 8,200 - - - 2,000 900	\$ 1,400,000 127,900 - - - 60,000 - - 141,200 2,000 11,900
SUBTOTAL	\$ 139,000	\$ 1,743,000
PROJECT CONTINGENCY	 5,000	 177,000
TOTAL BUDGETED EXPENDITURES	\$ 144,000	\$ 1,920,000
SOURCE(S) OF FUNDING		
UCONN 2000 PHASE III DEPARTMENTAL FUNDS	\$ 144,000	\$ 144,000 1,776,000
TOTAL BUDGETED FUNDING	\$ 144,000	\$ 1,920,000

BOT 1.27.16 901949

RESIDENTIAL LIFE FACILITIES WEST CAMPUS SHOWER RENOVATIONS

Project Budget Final (01/27/2016)



Existing Bathrooms Type A and Type B



Existing Bathroom Type B



Gang Shower

Financial Affairs

AGENDA

Meeting of the FINANCIAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

January 27, 2016 at 9:00 a.m.

University of Connecticut Lewis B. Rome Commons Ballroom Storrs, Connecticut

ATTACHMENT LOCATION COMMITTEE FULL BOARD

Α

EXECUTIVE SESSION (As Needed)

1) Approval of the Minutes of the Financial Affairs Committee

Meeting of December 16, 2015, as circulated

4) Exercise of the University's Ownership Rights

ACTION ITEMS:

2) Contracts and Agreements for Approval

1

3) Revisions to the Policy on the Selection of Outside Legal Counsel

2

5) Recommendation for Approval of Collective Bargaining Agreement 4

with UCPEA

6) Funding Strategy for Athletic Facilities Improvements (Separate Cover)

PROJECT BUDGETS FOR APPROVAL:

	STORRS BASED PROGRAMS	<u>Phase</u>	Budget	<u>Tab</u>
7)	Residential Life Facilities West Campus Shower	Final	\$1,920,000	5
	Renovations			

3

ATTACHMENT A

MINUTES MEETING OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE December 16, 2015

TRUSTEES PRESENT: Andy Bessette, Charles Bunnell, Shari Cantor, Richard Carbray,

Sandy Cloud, Marilda Gandara (via telephone), Jeremy Jelliffe, Thomas Kruger, Rebecca Lobo (via telephone), Donny Marshall (via

telephone), Larry McHugh, Denis Nayden, David Rifkin and

Thomas Ritter

STAFF PRESENT: Andrew Agwanobi, Carolle Andrews, Mun Choi, Laura Cruickshank,

Amy Donahue, Nicole Gelston, Jeff Geoghegan, Michael Gilbert, Susan Herbst, Scott Jordan, Tysen Kendig, Michael Kirk, Matt Larson, Wayne Locust, Michael Mundrane, Richard Orr, Sally Reis, Rachel

Rubin, Jeffrey Seeman, Katrina Spencer and Tom Trutter

UNIVERSITY SENATE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Amy Howell, Debra Kendall, Elizabeth Jockusch, and Shayla

Nunnally

Committee Chairman Thomas Kruger convened the meeting of the Financial Affairs Committee at 9:16 a.m. in the Lewis B. Rome Commons Ballroom on the University of Connecticut campus in Storrs, Connecticut. On a motion by Trustee Cantor and seconded by Trustee Bessette the committee accepted a revised agenda to add a license agreement for the University to operate a Starbucks store on the ground floor of the Rectory Building at the Waterbury campus.

On a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor the minutes of the meeting of November 18, 2015 were approved as circulated.

Matthew Larson, Director of Procurement, presented an overview of agenda *Item #2*, *Contracts and Agreements for Approval-Revised* including the additional Starbucks license agreement. On a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor the revised item was recommended to the full Board for approval.

Scott Jordan, Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer, detailed agenda *Item #3*, *Declaration of Official Intent for Certain UCONN 2000 Projects to be reimbursed with UCONN 2000 Debt Proceeds at a Future Date*. On a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor the item was recommended to the full Board for approval.

Dr. Agwunobi introduced agenda *Item #4, Implementation of UConn Health's Electronic Medical Record System*. A PowerPoint presentation explaining the new system was provided by John Carroll, UConn Health Chief Information Officer. Trustee Nayden suggested,

given the complexity and magnitude of the project, updates on the implementation including milestones, cost controls, timeframe, etc. be provided to the Board at regular intervals. Upon addressing committee concerns, the item was recommended to the full Board for approval on a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor.

Laura Cruickshank, University Master Planner and Chief Architect, and Michael Jednak, Associate Vice President for Facilities Operations and Business Services detailed agenda *Item* #6, *Project Budget for an Energy Services Contract – Phase I (Design: \$28,102,000)*. Ms. Cruickshank also provided information on agenda *Item #7, Project Budget for North Eagleville Road Area Infrastructure Repair/Replacement and Upgrades (Final: \$20.0 million)*.

Thomas Trutter, UConn Health Associate Vice President of Campus Planning, Design and Construction, detailed the Project Budgets for UConn Health presented for approval, in agenda Items 8-12, UCH Electronic Medical Records (EMR) Project Team Space Fit-Out – New Hospital Tower 7th Floor (Planning: \$1,500,000; UCH Munson Road Roof Replacement (Planning: \$5,050,000); UCH 195 Farmington Avenue: Parking Lot Pavement Removal and Replacement (Planning: \$763,000); UCH New Boiler and Deaerator Tank Repairs (Design: \$2,360,000); and UCH 3T MRI Renovations (Final: \$3,825,000).

On a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Carbray the committee recommended the Project Budgets to the full Board for approval.

Trustee Kruger recommended that agenda *Item #5*, 2016-Spring 2020 Tuition Plan for the University of Connecticut, Storrs and Regional Campuses be referred to the full Board for review and approval due to the importance of the discussion. On a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor the item was referred to the full Board.

There being no additional agenda items the meeting was adjourned at 10:08 a.m. on a motion by Trustee Bessette and seconded by Trustee Cantor.

Respectfully submitted,

Debbie A Barone

Debbie L. Carone,

Secretary to the Committee



Board of Trustees

FUNDING STRATEGY FOR ATHLETIC FACILITIES

IMPROVEMENTS

[DISTRIBUTED UNDER SEPARATE COVER]

Wednesday, January 27, 2016



Office of the Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer **Scott A. Jordan**Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer

January 27, 2016

TO:

Members of the Board of Trustees

FROM:

Scott A. Jordan S. #1

Executive Vice President for Administration and Chief Financial Officer

RE:

Funding Strategy for Athletic Facilities Improvements

RECOMMENDATION:

That the Board of Trustees endorse the funding strategy described below for athletic facilities improvements, and direct the administration to develop a plan for implementation, with the understanding that, at each stage of implementation, the approval of the appropriate committee of the Board of Trustees and full Board will be sought.

BACKGROUND:

The three existing and adjacent athletic facilities along Jim Calhoun Way that are home to our men's and women's soccer, baseball, and softball programs are in need of major improvements. They each offer limited seating capacity for our students, fans and alumni, and the playing fields and supporting facilities are in poor condition compared to other flagship universities in the American Athletic Conference and elsewhere, and stand in sharp contrast to modern facilities such as the Burton Family Football Complex, Shenkman Training Facility and the Werth Champions Center. Preliminary estimates of the cost of improvements to these facilities total \$46 million.

Given the current budgetary environment, which has placed constraints on UConn's ability to fund projects such as this, it is the University's intent to fund this project without the use of student tuition or fees or state dollars, and to rely instead on private philanthropy and ticket revenue generated by the athletics program.

Private philanthropy has already stepped up, and the UConn Foundation expects to be able to raise \$25 million toward these projects over a five-year period, with a portion of that amount already in hand.

This funding strategy is intended to provide a framework for filling the funding gap for soccer, baseball, and softball facilities over the amount that can be raised through gifts, bridging the time period during which funding commitments from donors can be converted into cash and providing for the long-term maintenance and improvement of other athletic facilities. Under this plan, the University will issue bonds sufficient to fund the cost of the projects in excess of gifts in hand, and to repay those bonds through conversion of pledges to cash and by imposing a modest fee on non-student tickets to athletic events. In this way, the projects will be financed entirely by donors and fans.

Gifts directed to this purpose and the revenue generated by the fees added to ticket prices will be allocated to servicing the bonds issued to finance the improvements to the soccer, baseball and softball facilities and to funding maintenance of our athletic facilities. The details of these arrangements will be worked out with our financial and legal advisors and shared with the appropriate committees and the Board as they are developed.

The bonds to fund the athletic facilities improvements will be issued in conjunction with the bonds to be issued to finance the student recreation center, both under the University's Special Obligation Revenue Bond program. Integrating the bonding for both purposes provides two benefits: 1) it creates a bond issue of sufficient size for an efficient transaction, with lower issuance costs as a proportion of bond proceeds raised, and 2) the bonds will enjoy the credit strength of the program's Aa2 rating from Moody's, which will garner lower interest rates.

Board endorsement of this funding strategy will provide a framework for moving forward. Details of the program structure will be developed by the administration, and committee and board approvals will be sought at the planning, design, construction and bonding stages.